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Under this €15,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term NotegRrmme (thd”rogrammeg, Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A.
and Naturgy Finance B.V. (each msuer, and together thissuer§ may from time to time issue notes in bearer form
(the Noteg guaranteed by Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. (uarantor and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries,
the Group). The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Blétem time to time outstanding under the Programme
will not exceed €15,000,000,000 (or its equivalienbther currencies). The Issuers and the Guarangy decide to
increase the amount of the Programme.

Application has been made to t@mmission de Surveillance du Secteur Finanf@@8SH in its capacity as the
competent authority undéui relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobiliédes10 juillet 2005the Luxembourg law
on prospectuses for securities of 10 July 2005anasnded by the Luxembourg law of 3 July 2012 [theembourg
Act) for the purpose of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/EC of the European Parliament and of the Counfcéd
November 2003, as amended or superseded Rtbepectus Directivie and relevant implementing measures in
Luxembourg for approval of this base prospectusBédse Prospectysas a base prospectus issued in compliance with
the Prospectus Directive and the Luxembourg Actherpurpose of giving information with regard he tissue of the
Notes under the Programme described in this BasgpBctus during the period of twelve months afierdate hereof,
which according to the particular nature of eacués, the Guarantor and the Notes, is necessarydiole investors to
make an informed assessment of the assets anlitibabifinancial position, profit and losses anebgpects of each
Issuer and the Guarantor. The CSSF assumes nonsdsifity as to the economic and financial soundnesthe
transaction and the quality or solvency of the éssn line with the provisions of article 7(7) ¢fet Luxembourg Act.
This Base Prospectus constitutes a base prosgecttie purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectug®ive. For the
purposes of the Transparency Directive 2004/109/&&urgy Finance B.V. has selected Luxembourg sishitme
member state’ and Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. $elected the United Kingdom as its ‘home membete’stThe
‘home member state’ of the Guarantor for such pepas Spain.



Application has also been made to the LuxemboungkIExchange for the Notes issued within twelve thsifirom the
date hereof to be listed on the official list oethuxembourg Stock Exchange and to be admittedating on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market (whscla regulated market for the purposes of the Btarkn

Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU). Apption may also be made to list such Notes on sthatr @r further
competent authorities, stock exchanges and/or tjootaystems as may be agreed with the Issuershan@uarantor.
Unlisted Notes may also be issued by Naturgy Fied¥. but not by Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. Aading to the
Luxembourg Act, the CSSF is not competent for §praving prospectuses for the listing of money reamkstruments
having a maturity at issue of less than twelve mem@nd complying with the definition of securit@s(ii) the issue of
unlisted notes.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programmavolves certain risks. For a discussion of thesesks see
“Risk Factors below.

Notes issued under the Programme may be ratedratedn Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, suchgatill be
specified in the relevant Final Terms. Such rativih not necessarily be the same as the ratinggassi to Notes
already issued. Whether or not a rating in relatmany Tranche of Notes will be treated as hatiagn issued by a
credit rating agency established in the Europeaiormand registered under Regulation (EC) No 106082(as
amended) on credit rating agencies @RA Regulation will be disclosed in the relevant Final Termslig of rating
agencies registered under the CRA Regulation cafoured at_http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-teggsl-and-
certified-CRAs. A rating is not a recommendatiorbtry, sell or hold Notes and may be subject to eusipn, change
or withdrawal by the assigning rating agency.
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Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor accepts iy for the information contained in this Bas
Prospectus and any applicable Final Terms (as etbfirelow). Having taken all reasonable care to renthat
such is the case, the information contained inBlaise Prospectus is, to the best of the knowletigaah of the
Issuers and the Guarantor, in accordance withabts fand contains no omission likely to affect itheort of
such information.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunctitmall documents that are deemed to be incorpdrate
herein by reference in it (seBbcuments Incorporated by Referehbelow).

References herein Gonditionsare to the Terms and Conditions of Notes issuedlétyrgy Finance
B.V. or to the Terms and Conditions of Notes issoietlaturgy Capital Markets, S.A., as the case bay

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of Bealers or the Arranger accepts any responsilfdity
the contents of this Base Prospectus or for angratfatement, made or purported to be made by titemder or a
Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the &Sy the Guarantor, or the issue and offering efNbtes. The
Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaimsaalll any liability whether arising in tort or cordtaor
otherwise (save as referred to above), which ithinigherwise have in respect of this Base Prospemtany such
statement.

No person is or has been authorised to give amyrirdtion or to make any representation not conthine
in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus my ather information provided in connection witheth
Programme or any Notes and, if given or made, $ofthhmation or representation must not be reliedrups
having been authorised by the Issuers, the Guaranamy of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other infdomagupplied in connection with the Programme or
any Notes (i) is intended to provide the basismf eredit or other evaluation or (ii) should be sidered as a
recommendation or as constituting an invitatioroffer by the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of tlkealBrs that
any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any atfiermation supplied in connection with the Prograenor any
Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investoreoutéating purchasing Notes should make its own
independent investigation of the affairs, and is@ppraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issusend/or the
Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus nor argr atifiormation supplied in connection with the Reogme or
any Notes constitutes an offer by or on behalfhef Issuers and/or the Guarantor or any of the Peéabteany
person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

The delivery of this Base Prospectus does not wttiame imply that the information contained herein
concerning the Issuers and/or the Guarantor isecbat any time subsequent to the date hereofavrathy other
information supplied in connection with the Prograenis correct as of any time subsequent to theiddieated
in the document containing the same. The Dealgrsessly do not undertake to review the financialdition or
affairs of the Issuers and/or the Guarantor dutivgglife of the Programme. Investors should reviener alia,
the most recent financial statements of the Issardsthe Guarantor when deciding whether or ngurchase
any of the Notes.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and tlfier @ir sale of Notes may be restricted by law iriaie
jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession thiseBProspectus or any Notes come must inform thessse
about, and observe, any such restrictions. Theetssuhe Guarantor, the Arranger and the Dealersalo
represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawdiislyibuted, or that any Notes may be lawfullyeoéd, in
compliance with any applicable registration or othequirements in any such jurisdiction, or purdunan
exemption available thereunder, or assume any neggtity for facilitating any such distribution affering. In
particular, no action has been taken by the IsstleesGuarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers tratldvpermit a
public offering of any Notes or distribution of shdocument in any jurisdiction where action forttharpose is
required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered @dsdirectly or indirectly, and neither this BaBeospectus
nor any advertisement or other offering materiay tna distributed or published in any jurisdictiexcept under
circumstances that will result in compliance wittyapplicable laws and regulations. In particullae, Notes and
the obligations of the Guarantor under the Dee@wédrantee have not been and will not be registenelér the
United States Securities Act 1933, as amendedSgterities Ac), or with any securities regulatory authority of
any state or other jurisdiction of the United Siadad include Notes in bearer form that are sulbjelotS. tax law



requirements. The Notes may not be offered, soliktivered within the United States or to, or foe ficcount or
benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in RegulaBaimder the Securities AdRégulation §) unless the Notes are
registered under the Securities Act, or an exemgftiom such registration requirements is availaibleere are
restrictions on the distribution of this Base Peatps and the offer or sale of Notes in the Unibates, the
European Economic Area (including the United KinggloThe Netherlands and Spain) and Japan, see
“Subscription and Sdle

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTE S, THE DEALER OR
DEALERS (IF ANY) NAMED AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S ) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON
BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S)) IN THE APPLIC ABLE FINAL TERMS MAY OVER-
ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO S UPPORTING THE MARKET
PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHIC H MIGHT OTHERWISE
PREVAIL. HOWEVER, STABILISATION MAY NOT NECESSARILY OCCUR. ANY STABILISATION
ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQ UATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE
OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE O F NOTES IS MADE AND, IF
BEGUN, MAY CEASE AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LA TER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30
DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE O F NOTES AND 60 DAYS AFTER
THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE O F NOTES. SUCH
STABILISING SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH ALL APPLICA  BLE LAWS, REGULATIONS AND
RULES.

Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculatedefference, to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate
(EURIBOR) or the London Interbank Offered RatelBOR). As at the date of this Base Prospectus, ICE
Benchmark Administration (as administrator of LIBPR included in the European Securities and Market
Authority’'s (ESMA) register of administrators under Article 36 of gelation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the
Benchmarks Regulation As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the geam Money Markets Institute (as
administrator of EURIBOR) is not included in ESMAtegister of administrators under Article 36 of the
Benchmarks Regulation. As far as the Issuers amdtarantor are aware, the transitional provisionarticle

51 of the Benchmarks Regulation apply, such thatatiministrator of EURIBOR is not currently reqdire
obtain authorisation/registration

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise spedifiete context otherwise requires, referenceb 8.
dollars andU.S.$ are to the currency of the United States of Anagnieferences t&en are to the currency of
Japan, references tBrazilian RealandBRL are to the currency of Brazil, referencesGbilean pescand CLP
are to the currency of Chile, references@olombian pesaare to the currency of Colombia and references to
Sterling are to the currency of the United Kingdom. Refeesrtoeuro and to€ are to the currency introduced at
the start of the third stage of European econonmid enonetary union pursuant to the Treaty estabiighthe
European Community, as amended. Conversions imtoaftamounts expressed in currencies other thao &u
this Base Prospectus are provided for conveniemtg @and, unless indicated otherwise, representsimate of
such euro amounts based on publicly available cive rates as at 30 June 2018. No representasomade
that these amounts could have been, or could e/ected into euro at that rate or any other rate.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

The Notes are not intended to be offered, soldlweravise made available to and should not be affere
sold or otherwise made available to any retail $toe in the European Economic AreBEA). For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person whaag@r more) of: (i) a retail client as definedpaint (11) of
Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amend®&tFID Il ) or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Dirediv
2002/92/EC (as amended, thesurance Mediation Directivg where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client as defined in point (10) of iélg 4(1) of MIiFID Il. Consequently, no key informman
document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2044 #mended, thERIIPs Regulatior) for offering or
selling the Notes or otherwise making them avadafdl retail investors in the EEA has been prepaned
therefore offering or selling the Notes or otheewvinaking them available to any retail investortia EEA may
be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.



MiIFID Il PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes will in@duallegend entitled “MiFID Il Product Governance”
which will outline the target market assessmemespect of the Notes and which channels for digidin of the
Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequentlyrindfe selling or recommending the Notes distributor)
should take into consideration the target markeessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFIDslI
responsible for undertaking its own target mark&teasment in respect of the Notes (by either aupir
refining the target market assessment) and detargnappropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to eachuis about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Die@017/593 (thiiFID Product Governance Rules any
Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufactureespect of such Notes, but otherwise neitherAttranger
nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affidéawill be a manufacturer for the purpose of thel® Product
Governance Rules.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Secuies and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (#n
SFA) — Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms $peet of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be tsuneler
the Programme shall be prescribed capital markeidugts (as defined in the Securities and Futu@zpial
Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Excludgddiment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFAN0£-
Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MASidd FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on
Investment Products).

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Certain alternative performance measures (as dkefime the ESMA Guidelines on Alternative
Performance Measuresplfernative Performance Measuresr APMs) are included in this Base Prospectus
(which reference includes any information incorpedaby reference herein). Such APMs, which areremtired
by, and have not been prepared in accordance witlthational Financial Reporting Standards as tbpy the
European UnionlFRS-EU), have been extracted or derived from the accogmécords of the Group.

The Guarantor believes these measures will ass@iriies analysts, investors and other interested
parties in the understanding of the Group’s resofiteperations and financial position. These APMeutd be
viewed as complementary to, rather than a substfat, the figures determined according to IFRS-Buch
APMs have not been audited or reviewed, and areeuoignised measures of financial performanceqoidity
under IFRS-EU but are used by management to mottieounderlying performance of the business, ojoersit
and financial condition of the Group.

These APMs may not be indicative of the Group’sdnisal results, nor are such measures meant to be
predictive of its future results. The Guarantor lpassented these APMs in this Base Prospectus $edau
considers them to be important supplemental messirde Group’s performance or liquidity, becatisese and
similar measures are seen to be used widely inséwtor in which it operates as a means of evalyadin
company’s operating performance and liquidity. Hegre not all companies calculate such APMs in themes
manner or on a consistent basis. As a result, thesessures may not be comparable to measures usetthdry
companies under the same or similar names. and gheyld not be considered as a substitute for diahn
measures computed in accordance with IFRS-EU.

Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placedurh APMs contained in this Base Prospectus.

See the section entitledey Performance Indicatotdelow for information on APMs contained in this
Base Prospectus.
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should carefully considerth# information set forth in this Base
Prospectus, the applicable Final Terms and any dwnts incorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus, as well as their own personal circumsta, before deciding to invest in any Notes.
Prospective investors should have particular regerdamong other matters, the considerations set
out in this section of this Base Prospectus. Thieviing is not intended as, and should not be
construed as, an exhaustive list of relevant riSKsere may be other risks that a prospective
investor should consider that are relevant to iss@articular circumstances or generally.

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes ¢laah of the following factors may affect
its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notessued under the Programme. All of these factors are
contingencies which may or may not occur and ndrieeolssuers or the Guarantor is in a position
to express a view on the likelihood of any suchingancy occurring. In addition, factors which are
material for the purpose of assessing the marksitsriassociated with Notes issued under the
Programme are also described below.

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believestti@factors described below represent the
principal risks inherent in investing in Notes isgwinder the Programme as at the date of this Base
Prospectus, but the inability of the relevant Issaethe Guarantor to pay interest, principal or
other amounts on or in connection with any Notey wecur for other reasons which may not be
considered significant risks by the relevant Issareal the Guarantor based on information currently
available to them or which they may not currenttydile to anticipate. Prospective investors should
also read the detailed information set out elsewhar this Base Prospectus, including the
descriptions of the Issuers and the Guarantor, el as the documents incorporated by reference,
and reach their own views prior to making any irik@nt decisions.

Before making an investment decision with respeany Notes, prospective investors should
consult their own stockbroker, bank manager, lawgecountant or other financial, legal and tax
advisers and carefully review the risks entailedabyinvestment in the Notes and consider such an
investment decision in the light of the prospedtivestor's personal circumstances.

Risks Relating to the Issuers

The risk factors relating to the Issuers are thmesas those relating to the Guarantor, as set
forth in this section below.

Risks Relating to the Guarantor’s Business
The Uncertain Macroeconomic Climate

The global economy and the global financial systeiwve experienced a period of significant
turbulence and uncertainty following the very sevdislocation of the financial markets that began
in August 2007 and considerably worsened in theviohg years. This dislocation has severely
restricted general levels of liquidity, the availdp of credit and the terms on which credit is
available. It has also increased the financial éardn the Group’s domestic and institutional
customers, downgrading their credit quality, redgcitheir spending capacity and negatively
affecting consumer demand.

On 23 March 2018, Standard & Poor’s raised Spaioigreign credit rating to A- (Outlook
Positive), based on a sound economic and budgptrfgrmance and the expectation of a faster
GDP growth than the Eurozone average during 20120@1. Nevertheless, severe challenges
remain, such as large general government debt r{dr&00% of GDP) and the ability of Spain’s
minority government’'s to implement policy given tleirrent political landscape with a very
fragmented parliament. These challenges may haveat@rial adverse effect on the business,



prospects, financial condition and results of offena of the Group given its business is regarded b
credit rating agencies as having a “high” exposargpain’s risk profile.

Despite the achievement of a third rescue packag&feece announced on 13 July 2015,
there continue to be concerns surrounding Greeceditworthiness and its ability to implement the
economic reforms demanded by its creditors, whighidc have a material adverse impact on the
financial markets and, consequently, the Group'Sitalto obtain financing on commercially
acceptable terms or at all. In addition, politicalcertainty in Spain is also increasing due to the
presence of parties supporting similar policie&teece’s Syriza.

On 23 June 2016, a majority of voters in the Unkadgdom elected to withdraw from the
European Union in a national referendum. The refémen has created significant uncertainty about
the future relationship between the United Kingdammd the European Union, including with respect
to the laws and regulations that will apply as theited Kingdom determines which European
Union-derived laws to replace or replicate in thereg of a withdrawal. These developments, or the
perception that any of them could occur, have hadl may continue to have a material adverse
effect on global economic conditions and the sitgf global financial markets.

Despite the improvement in the European financiarkets and the recovery of Spain’s
economy, further instability cannot be ruled out2®il9, particularly in light of Spain’s minority
government or the tensions between Spain’s cegtra¢érnment and the regional government of
Catalonia. While such political tensions have nghificantly affected macroeconomic figures so
far, there can be no assurance that they may net dothe future.

Deterioration in the Spanish and other economiesutfhout the world negatively affects
business and consumer confidence, unemploymentisrehe state of the housing market, the
commercial real estate sector, the state of thdtygbond and foreign exchange markets,
counterparty risk, inflation, the availability amdst of credit, transaction volumes in key markets
and the liquidity of the global financial marketsl these factors could have a material adverse
effect on the business, prospects, financial cardénd results of operations of the Group.

The Group is not able to predict how the economdecis likely to develop in the short term
or the coming years or whether there will be arreto a recessive phase of the global economic
cycle. Any further deterioration of the current Bomic situation in the markets in which the Group
operates could decrease revenues, increase theifigacosts of the Group and might affect the
reasonable value of financial assets and liakslitedl of which could give rise to an impairment of
the goodwill, intangible or tangible fixed assefsttee Group, which may in turn have a material
adverse effect on the business, prospects, finacamaition and results of operations of the Group.

Business Strategy

Given the risks to which the Group is exposed dreduncertainties inherent in its business
activities, the Group can provide no assuranceithaitl be able to implement its business strategy
successfully. Were the Group to fail to achievesttaitegic objectives, or if those objectives, once
attained, did not generate the benefits initialifi@pated, its business, prospects, financial doord
and results of operations may be adversely affegiethaps significantly. The Group’s ability to
achieve its strategic objectives is subject to aetsa of risks, including, but not limited to, the
following specific risks:

. an inability to increase the number of connectimings in Europe and Latin
America, preventing the Group from expanding itstribution networks in these
countries in line with its Strategic Plan;

. a stagnation in the number of customers due tock ¢d success in marketing
campaigns targeted at gas and electricity consymers



. an inability to achieve the desired level of flekilp and diversification in gas
supplies and access to gas reserves;

. an inability to renegotiate contracts that expiwbjch may negatively impact the
Group'’s profitability;

. the inclusion of “take-or-pay” clauses in supplyntracts, potentially imposing an
obligation on the Group to pay for a larger volunfigias than it requires;

. the possibility of a new recession in the Sparigiropean, Latin American or any
other economy where the Group operates, or th@lkatuhreatened default by any
major economy on its sovereign debt, which wouldatigely affect the
performance of the Group’s businesses;

. an inability to successfully manage the requiresaritregulatory frameworks if
stricter-than-expected regulatory measures wereetamposed in relation to the
international distribution of gas and electricigngration;

. an inability to consolidate the Group’s multi-see/business strategy or to increase
the current rate of multi-product contracts petcuer;

. an inability to execute the current efficiency plan

. an inability to fulfil the current dividend plan asesult of lower cash generation;

. an inability to successfully manage the Group’s arity shareholders in the

different businesses belonging to the Group; and

. an inability to successfully manage the busines§ése Group in the context of the
changing political and regulatory environment, uathg the potential risk of
intervention and/or liquidation of any of the Gr&ipusinesses.

Regulatory Risk

The Group and its subsidiaries are obliged to cgmyith legal rules and regulations applying
to the natural gas and electricity sectors. Inipaler, gas and electricity distribution are regeth
businesses in most of the countries in which theu@rcarries out these activities. In addition, the
Group is subject to laws and regulations concerpiices and other aspects of its activities in each
of the countries in which it operates. The intrddcacof new laws and regulations or amendments to
already-existing laws and regulations may have dweme effect on the business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations @& Group.

The laws and regulations governing the natural ayab electricity sectors in the countries
where the Group operates are typically subjectenodic review by the regulatory authorities.
Following such reviews, or as a result of the aparof new regulations, the regulatory frameworks
prevailing in those jurisdictions, along with thetdrpretation of the applicable rules, may be
modified, and such modifications may be significamtertain instances. The introduction of such
modifications may impact the existing remuneratgmheme for regulated activities, as well as
operating, capital and raw material costs andiefiity incentives, among other fundamental factors,
all of which could have a material adverse effecttioe Group’s subsidies, business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

In particular, in 2013, the Spanish government thodé& an ambitious overhaul of the
regulatory framework applicable to the entire SghAnglectricity sector. The main driver of the
reform was the determination to reduce and, eliteiribe so-called “tariff deficit”, which is the
difference between the regulated costs and thariacof the electricity system. As of December
2017, the total outstanding electricity tariff défiamounted to approximately €21 billion, all of
which has been securitised. As a result of the iSpaglectricity reform, 2013 was the last year with



a tariff deficit. A tariff surplus of income ovewsts of the electricity system of €550 million was
recorded in 2014, €469 million in 2015 and €422lionl in 2016. The measures adopted by the
government to tackle the tariff deficit include Rbpecree-Law 9/2013 dated 12 July 2013, which
established a new remuneration scheme for renewalalste and cogeneration, distribution and
transportation activities, which will be referended “reasonable rate of return”. It was followsd
the publication at the end of 2013 of Law 24/20H3ed 26 December 2013, on the Electricity
Sector (theElectricity Acf), confirming the same principles for the remurieratof regulated
activities established in Royal Decree-Law 9/201% Electricity Act also includes a stability rule:
each new cost should be accompanied by a new sofiroevenues, and any deficit exceeding
certain limits should be automatically compensdiga tariff increase. Royal Decrees establishing
the remuneration methodology for transmission asttidution were also approved and published
by the end of 2013. The Ministerial Orders inclugdithe reference unit costs for capital and
operational expenditure were approved in Decemi®di52and the new methodology was first
applied in Ministerial Order IET/980/2016 estabiighthe remuneration of distribution activities for
2016 and Ministerial Order IET/981/2016 establighthe remuneration of transmission activities
for 2016 that were published in June 2016. Distidruand transmission retribution parameters are
established for regulatory periods of six yearghwthe first regulatory period due to end on 31
December 2019.

Royal Decree 413/2014 and Ministerial Order IETARO14 establishing the detailed
parameters of the new remuneration scheme for i@nleywcogeneration and waste were approved
in June 2014. The parameters are established #orfitst regulatory period that ends on 31
December 2019. A revision of the parameters ofrtée remuneration scheme (excluding capital
expenditure and the lifetime of the installatioissio take place every six years, correspondirtieo
regulatory period applicable to each installatidowever, the revision of other parameters based on
the real price of the market is to take place evhrge years. The principal aim of this revision
would be to take account of the real price of eieity in the market during the first half of thiest
regulatory period. The parameters based on the obstiel are reviewed every six months. Detailed
regulation to review capacity payments and the ldgweent of mothballing of general facilities are
still pending.

Regarding the natural gas sector, in July 2014Spanish government approved the main
proposals of the regulatory reform, also aimed wting the accumulated gas tariff deficit. The
reform was included in Royal Decree-Law 8/2014ed&t1 May 2014, subsequently transposed into
Law 18/2014, dated 17 October 2014, modifying #m@uneration scheme for regulated activities:
transmission, regasification, storage and distidout Similar to in the reform of the electricity
sector, Law 18/2014 also includes a stability rahel a principle of economic sustainability, such
that any deficit exceeding certain limits shoulddatomatically eliminated through increases in the
access tariffs. It also includes the recovery of pathe outcome of the arbitration proceedings of
the Algerian contract of natural gas supply throtiggn Maghreb pipeline. This means that, over a
period of five years, which commenced in 2015,dhe access tariffs are recovering an amount of
€163,790,000 as well as the payments of marketesteates to be established by the Ministry of
Energy, Trade and Tourism, which will be reimbursedhe Group as the owner of the Algerian
contract.

Pursuant to the Energy Efficiency Directive, Law2lB8.4 also established a national system
for energy efficiency obligations which imposes suppliers of gas and electricity, wholesale
petroleum operators and wholesale GLP operatorgbéigation of annual savings. with the Law
provides two alternatives for compliance: contribatto a National Energy Efficiency FunBgndo
Nacional de Eficiencia Energetit~NEE) managed by the Institute of Diversification amkeEyy
Saving (nstituto para la Diversificacion y Ahorro de la &mig (IDEA) and or an accreditation
system of energy savings through the issuance difiCates of Energy SavingQAES). However,
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as the regulatory development of the CAEs is géhding, the only way to fulfil the obligations of
savings for 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 is througtritaution to the FNEE.

In May 2015, Law 8/2015 was published amending Hyelrocarbons Sector Law (Law
34/1998 dated 7 October 1998), primarily to contemepthe creation of an organised gas market
(gas hub), the introduction of other measures ¢onpte competition in the hydrocarbons sector, and
the adoption of tax measures relating to the egfgilum and production of hydrocarbons.

On 27 November 2017, the European Commission adti@pain of its decision to open an
in-depth investigation into Spain’s support of @éomimental investments relating to generation
capacity payments for coal power plants. As atddite of this Base Prospectus, this investigation is
still in process.

Furthermore, given the regulated nature of sonbefas and electricity sectors in which the
Group operates, some of its activities are sulifectbtaining the relevant concessions, licences or
other administrative authorisations, which gengraflkes a long time. Operating without the
necessary permits can be sanctioned.

The return on, and performance of, the Group’s stments in regulated jurisdictions are
therefore conditional on obtaining and maintainihg relevant administrative concessions and
authorisations in the medium and long term, whichmany cases, is outside of the Group’s control.
Any new political, social or economic conditionsthese jurisdictions could affect the stability of
the Group’s contracts, concessions, licences @ratministrative authorisations, as well as have
unforeseeable consequences for the Group’s busiplass and materially adversely affect the
revenue from the Group’s regulated activities atdrn on investment in such jurisdictions.

In addition, it should be noted that many of theo@x's concessions are subject to the
fulfilment of certain commitments which, if not me&an lead to sanctions, reductions in revenue,
revocation of the concessions and enforcement wfcamrantees or surety bonds, which could
materially adversely impact the return on the Gteupvestments and, as a result, its business,
prospects, financial condition and results of ofiena.

Level of Competitiveness in Supply Activities ex@as and Electricity Market

The Group operates in a highly competitive envirentrin the gas and electricity markets in
the different countries in which it carries on litlssiness. In particular, the liberalisation proesss
that have taken place in energy markets both innSpad in other key markets have had a negative
impact on energy prices and on the market sharetaf supply, especially in the gas business. The
Group may continue to lose market share due toetitey of new suppliers into the market or
existing suppliers. A further decline in market haould have a significant adverse effect on the
Group’s business, prospects, financial conditioo rsults of operations.

In the electricity industry, liberalisation has léd increased competition as a result of
consolidation and the entry of new market partiofpan the European Union electricity markets,
including the Spanish electricity market. The lddesation of the electricity industry in the Eurajpe
Union has also led to lower electricity prices am® market segments as a result of the entry of new
competitors and cross-border energy suppliers disasdhe establishment of European electricity
exchanges, which in turn has led to increaseddityuin the electricity markets. This liberalisatio
of the electricity market means that many areathefGroup’s business must develop in a more
competitive environment.

If the Group were unable to adapt to or adequatedyage this competitive market, its
business, prospects, financial condition and resaft operations could be materially adversely
affected.
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Operating Risks

The Group’s operations are subject to certain mterisks, including pipeline ruptures,
breakdowns affecting its electricity generationeéssand liquefied natural gaENG) tankers,
explosions, pollution, release of toxic substandiess, adverse weather conditions (such as the
hurricane that crossed the islands of Puerto Ric&eptember 2017), failure by gas and fuel
suppliers or other third parties to fulfil contraat obligations, sabotage, accidental damage gags
distribution network or electricity generation assand other hazards afaice majeuresvents, any
of which could result in personal injury and/or @aya to, or the destruction of, the Group’s faeiiti
and other properties or an interruption in gas supgpd/or electricity generation. Additionally, the
Group may be subject to civil liability claims fpersonal injury and/or other damages caused in the
ordinary pursuit of its activities, such as failuia its distribution network, gas explosions, ptdin
or toxic spills or incidents with its generatingapts. Such claims could result in the payment of
compensation under the laws of certain countriesrevtthe Group operates, which could, to the
extent the Group’s civil liability insurance poks do not cover such damages, have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, prospéotmcial condition and results of operations.
Furthermore, if operations at compression statiomsthe Europe-Maghreb pipeline were to be
interrupted, suppliers may notify the Group of dueion in supply levels or seek to enfofoece
majeureprovisions with a view to terminating the corresgimg supply agreements. The Group is
not generally able to predict the occurrence ofséher similar events and they may cause
unanticipated interruptions in its gas supply alattecity generation activities. While the Group
seeks to obtain insurance cover for risks suchaasade to property and loss of profit, its financial
condition and results of operations may be advweistcted to the extent any losses are uninsured,
exceed the applicable limitations under its inscegpolicies, are subject to the payment of excesses
or to the extent the premiums payable in respecsush policies are increased as a result of
insurance claims.

The Group enters into long-term gas supply corgractd, consequently, its gas supply is
subject to the risk of non-fulfilment by its conttaal counterparties. In the event that insuffitien
gas is supplied to the Group due to the failura cbunterparty to deliver contracted amounts of gas
or for any other reason, the Group could be redquiceseek alternative sources of gas in order to
ensure continued supply. This may require purchasdbe ‘spot’ market (a non-organised market
aimed at short-term commercialisation in gas, primdNG), to acquire the gas required. Such
‘spot’ purchases may only be available on more espe terms than under the current supply
contracts to which the Group is party, and thig owsy not be recoverable under such contracts. The
Group cannot provide any assurance that, in suchirostances, it would be able to acquire the gas
needed to guarantee supply on reasonable terna, @i, and any failure to do so could have a
negative effect on its business, prospects, firdecindition and results of operations.

If any of these operating risks were to materialisey could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business, prospects, financial ¢mmdand results of operations.

Risks Relating to Litigation and Arbitration

The sectors in which the Group operates have groam litigious in recent years, as a result
of the volatility of fuel and natural gas pricesdagreater competition in the liberalised market,
among other factors. The Group and its subsidiaiescurrently involved in a number of judicial,
arbitration and regulatory proceedings. Given tawure of the Group’s business and the sectors in
which it operates, the amounts involved in sucle@edings can be significant.

An adverse outcome in one or more of those proogedincluding out-of-court settlements)
could have a material adverse effect on the Grobpsiness, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations.
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See ‘Description of Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.—Litigatiand Arbitratiori on pages 159
to 160 below.

The Group is Exposed to Price Variations in Crude Ratural Gas and Electricity

A significant portion of the Group’s operating erpes relate to the purchase of natural gas
and LNG for commercialisation in the regulated aledegulated markets in which it operates and
for fuelling its CCGT plants for electricity genémn. Although the prices that the Group charges it
gas customers generally reflect the market priceatdiral gas, in highly volatile market conditions
the adjustments it makes to its sale prices mayuligtreflect the changes in the cost of naturas g
supplies. In addition to increasing costs in theupis natural gas business, higher gas prices can
also inflate its electricity generation costs, atural gas is used to fuel its CCGT plants.

The prices for such commodities have historicdligtiiated and the Group cannot be certain
that prices will remain within projected levels. dpée the fact that the annual average price of a
barrel of Brent crude oil was stable in precediegrg, at U.S.$111.3 in 2011, U.S.$111.6 in 2012,
U.S.$108.7 in 2013 and U.S.$99.1 in 2014, pricesraxw highly volatile, falling to an average of
U.S.$52.5 in 2015 to U.S.$43.7 in 2016 and theingiso U.S.$54.3 in 2017 up to the end of the
third quarter and to U.S.$72.1 in September 2008r¢®:BP Trading Conditions Update—Crude
oil and natural gas markets archiveCrude oil and natural gas prices are also initee by
geopolitical factors, including but not limited tdemand in China, India and Japan due to nuclear
shutdown, oversupply of crude oil, the strong W&lar and general market volatility. Additionally,
new procurement contracts from the US (Sabine BadsCorpus Christi) are exposed to the Henry
Hub index, which is also highly volatile, with tlenual average price of omaillion British
Thermal Units (BTU) in USD for the last three yeaas U.S.$2.66 in 2015, U.S.$2.46 in 2016,
U.S.$3.10 in 2017 and U.S.$2.90 in September 2GDBir¢e: NYMEX New York Mercantile
Exchangg.

The price of electricity in Spain is also highlylaiile due to the market share of renewable
technologies and their dependence on climate dondiind also because of the volatility of thermal
energy technologies that define the price of elgtirin Spain since it is the marginal technology
required to cover electricity demand. The averageeper MWh of electricity fell from €47.25 in
2012 to €44.19 in 2013 and to €41.97 in 2014, gigm €52.02 in 2015, falling significantly to
€39.67 in 2016, rising again to €52.24 for thet finsee quarters of 2017 and to €55.40 in September
2018 (source©OMIE), mainly due to the weather and the decreasesipatih of renewable energy
(hydro and wind).

The Group’s business activities include wholesatural gas sales to electricity producers
and others. With respect to such transactiongegslts of operations are likely to depend largely
upon prevailing market prices in regional marketsl @ther competitive markets. These market
prices may fluctuate substantially over relativehort periods of time. As a result, the Group’s
natural gas wholesale business is exposed to eiskactuating commodity prices and movements
in the price of electricity.

There can be no assurance that the Group will ketalpass on increases in generation and
operating costs to its gas and electricity custen(ierthe case of commodity price increases) or to
negotiate a decrease in wholesale prices with uigplgers (in the case of commodity price
decreases), or otherwise offset such variationsutgit hedging arrangements and other risk
management techniques.

Additionally, long-term gas purchase contracts dgfhy provide for regular price revision
mechanics: the parties have the right to requestvaew of the gas purchase price in certain
circumstances, and in the event the parties areleita reach an agreement, such contracts provide
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for an independent system or formula for settirgtice. The Group is periodically subject to such
procedures, which may potentially result in unfaredale pricing of gas.

Any such variations in commodity prices could haveaterial adverse effect on the Group’s
business, prospects, financial condition and resiflbperations.

Gas Volume Risks

Most purchases of natural gas and LNG are madeig@uirso long-term contracts with clauses
(commonly known as “take-or-pay” clauses) that nexjthe Group to purchase a certain amount of
natural gas and LNG during specified contract mexi¢’ursuant to these contracts, even if the Group
requires less than the minimum contracted amoting $till contractually bound to pay for the
minimum contracted amount, thereby paying for awarh of gas or LNG that is greater than its
operational needs. When the Group enters into “teqgay” contracts, it negotiates the minimum
contracted amount based on forecasts of its aatmipfuture needs. Such forecasts are based on
previous experience and the information then alkglgo the Group, but actual volume requirements
may prove to be lower than those projected atithe the contracts are entered into. Any significant
variation in the forecast levels of demand couldgulein the Group being required to pay for
guantities of natural gas that exceed its actuatisieregardless of whether it elects to take dslive
of the excess quantities of gas, which could, in,thave a material adverse effect on the Group’s
operational costs and, as a result, its businessspects, financial condition and results of
operations.

Environmental Protection Regulations

The Group is subject to extensive environmentakgatoon regulations that require the
preparation of environmental impact studies, thénteaance of relevant authorisations, licences
and permits and the fulfilment of certain otheruiegments. Among other things, the Group is
subject to the risk that:

. its environmental protection studies may not bereygd by the regulatory
authorities;

. required environmental authorisations and licemoag not be granted or may be
revoked due to a breach of the conditions imposeglibh authorisations;

. public opinion may not be in favour of projects posed by the Group, which may
lead to the projects suffering delays or being eled; and/or

. applicable regulations or their interpretation bygulatory authorities may undergo
changes, which could result in increased costs ime trequired to ensure
compliance.

In recent years, environmental protection laws Haa@me more onerous in many countries
in which the Group operates. Although the Groupsaters that it has carried out all necessary
actions to comply with applicable laws, any modifion to, or unforeseen application of, such laws
may require significant investments for continuesnpliance, increase the operational cost of its
activities and/or have an adverse effect on theu@soindustrial customers that purchase gas for
their businesses, with the possibility that gaseladtricity consumption will decline.

Currency and Interest Rate Risks

Fluctuations in interest rates modify the fair \ealof the Group’s assets and liabilities that
accrue a fixed interest rate and the cash flows fagsets and liabilities pegged to a floating eger
rate, and accordingly, affect the Group’s equitgl arofitability, respectively. The Group’s floating
rate debt is primarily subject to fluctuations IJEIBOR, LIBOR and the indexed rates in
Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Chile, Mexico and Swoutfrica.
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The Group is also exposed to risks associated wvéthations in currency exchange rates.
Variations in exchange rates can affect, amongradtiiegs, the value of the Group’s earnings and
borrowings denominated in currencies other tharetire and its operations that generate non-euro
revenue, as well as the exchange value of commguitghases denominated in currencies other
than the euro.

Although the Group takes a proactive approacheatbnagement of the above risks in order
to minimise their impact on its revenues, in sorases the policies it implements may not be
effective in mitigating the adverse effects causgéhterest rate and currency fluctuations and aoul
have an adverse impact on the Group’s businesspgets, financial condition and results of
operations.

Construction and Development of New Infrastructure

The construction and development of natural gaplgupnd distribution infrastructure and
the exploration, production and sale of LNG, aslveal electricity generation and distribution
projects, can be time-consuming and highly comphexy increase in the costs of, cancellation of
and/or delay in the completion of, the Group’s pct$ under development and projects proposed for
development could have a material adverse effedisdousiness, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations. In particular, if the Growere unable to complete projects under
development, it would not be able to recover th&sconcurred and its profitability, and, as a regsul
its business, prospects, financial condition arsdite of operations, could be materially adversely
affected.

Impact of Weather Conditions

The demand for electricity and natural gas, as a®lelectricity and gas prices, are closely
related to climate. Generally, natural gas demanthigher during the cold weather months of
October through March in Europe and Mexico (or Afitiough September in Argentina and Chile
and, to a lesser extent, Brazil) and lower durihg tvarm weather months of April through
September in Europe and Mexico (or October thrddgihch in Argentina and Chile and, to a lesser
extent, Brazil). A significant portion of demand faatural gas in the winter months relates to the
production of electricity and heat and, in the stenmonths, to the production of electricity for-air
conditioning systems. The revenues and resultpefations of the Group’s natural gas operations
could be negatively affected by periods of unsealsienwarm weather during the autumn and winter
months, due to decreases in factors such as pndeva@lume. Likewise, electricity demand may
decrease during mild summers as a result of reddesdand for air-conditioning, negatively
impacting revenues generated from the Group’s réd#gt generation and distribution businesses
and its commercialisation of natural gas.

The Group’s operations involve hydroelectric anddwyeneration in Spain, Central America
and Latin America and, accordingly, the Group ipatelent upon hydrological conditions prevailing
from time to time in the geographic regions in whits hydroelectric and wind generation facilities
are located. If hydrological and wind conditionsuk in droughts or other conditions that negativel
affect the Group’s hydroelectric and wind generatiusiness, the Group’s business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations cdutdmaterially adversely affected.

Climate and water risk analysis

The Group analyses the risks and opportunities cegsd with some of the key
environmental issues like climate change and waerce these have been quantified they are
integrated into the Group’s corporate strategy goals can be established to minimise risks and
maximise opportunities, although there can be sarasice that the Group will be able effectively to
minimise such risks or maximise opportunities.

Climate risk analysis considers different typesigifs and opportunities:
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physical parameters: rising temperatures, changesimfall, rising sea levels and
extreme weather phenomena;

market: existence of COmarkets and the development of other markets with
similar characteristics;

regulatory: development of energy policies to naitegclimate change that involve
driving renewable energies and the promotion ofgnefficiency; and

risks and opportunities concerning reputation.

Should any of these risks materialise, they cowdeha material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, prospects, financial conditioo r@sults of operations.

Development of the Group’s Electricity Activities

The success of the Group’s electricity sector jtejeould be adversely affected by factors
beyond the control of the Group, including, but lmofted to, the following:

increases in the cost of generation, includingdases in fuel costs and Egrices;

reduced competitiveness with other technologiestduen increase in the cost of
electricity generation from natural gas;

the possibility of a reduction in the projecteceraf growth in electricity usage as a
result of factors such as economic or weather tiomdi

the implementation of energy conservation schemes;
risks incidental to the operation and maintenariaeztricity generation facilities;

the increasing price volatility that has resultexhi deregulation and changes in the
market;

surplus electricity generation capacity in the retslserved by the electricity plants
the Group owns or in which it has an interest;

generation-comercialisation imbalances that maylres the exposure of the
Group to electricity price volatility;

the imposition of new requirements by the regulatrthorities resulting from the
ongoing deregulation of the electricity sector e tjurisdictions in which the
Group operates; and

alternative sources and supplies of energy beconaivgilable due to new
technologies and increasing interest in renewategy and cogeneration.

Should any of these risks materialise, they cowdeha material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, prospects, financial conditioo r@sults of operations.

Geographical Exposure

The Group has interests in countries with varielitipal, economic and social environments,
focused on two main geographical areas:

(a) Latin America

A significant portion of the Group’s operating imee is generated by its Latin American
subsidiaries. Operations and investments in LatmeAca are exposed to various risks that are
inherent to the region, including, but not limited risks relating to the following:

significant governmental influence over local ecoies;

substantial fluctuations in economic growth;
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. high levels of inflation;

. devaluation, depreciation or over-valuation of lauad foreign currencies;
. exchange controls or restrictions on expatriatibeasnings;

. volatile domestic interest rates;

. changes in governmental, fiscal, economic or tdicipes;

. unexpected changes in governmental regulation;

. expropriation of assets or businesses;

. social unrest; and

. general political and macro-economic instability.

Most or all of these factors have arisen at varibmes in the last two decades in the most
important Latin American markets: Argentina, Bragiblombia and Mexico.

(b) Middle East and the Maghreb

The Group has both proprietary assets and signifigms supply contracts in various
countries in the Middle East, mainly in Egypt, ahd Maghreb. Political instability in the area can
result in physical damage to assets of companieshich the Group participates as well as in
obstructing the operations of these or other comgasausing interruption in gas supply.

The Group is not able to predict the occurrencaryf of these risks or other risks related to
the Group’s operations and interests in Latin Aosior the Middle East and the Maghreb, or the
magnitude of their impact, and any such risks coudde a negative impact on the Group’s
subsidiaries, business, prospects, financial cimmdénd results of operations.

Risks related to acquisitions, investments andodiajs

As part of the Group’s strategy, the Group may gaga acquisitions, investments and total
or partial disposals of interests. There can beasgurance that the Group will identify suitable
acquisition opportunities, obtain the financing essary to complete and support such acquisitions
or investments, acquire businesses on satisfatgonys, or that any acquired business will prove to
be profitable. In addition, acquisitions, investiseand divestments involve a number of risks
associated with unanticipated events, includinfjadities in relation to the operational integratio
of such new businesses in the Group or the digiatien of such businesses from the Group and
risks arising from provisions in contracts that &iggered by a change of control of an acquired
company or from provisions in contracts relatinghe units to be divested. Any disposal of interest
may also adversely affect the Group’s financialditton if such disposal results in a loss to the
Group.

Any of the above factors could have an adverse éinpa the Group’s business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk insofar asdnterparts, such as customers, suppliers,
financial institutions and partners may defaulttlogir contractual payment obligations by failing to
make payments on time or at all. The energy rdtafliness, despite having procedures for the
selection of customers, is exposed to defaultstsn commercial portfolios due to both the
deterioration of existing portfolios and the desezhquality of new customers as a result of current
economic and financial conditions. In businesseschyhaside from the supply of energy, offer
consumer financing for the acquisition of ancillgnpducts, unpaid invoices tend to be greater and
there is less incentive to repay compared to cistantes where only the supply payment is due.
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Business activity which requires a prior investmigngassets is especially sensitive to default risk
because if an event of default does occur, thesetsasnight not be recoverable or reusable.
Conversely, risk management is hindered and loseesased where there is a legal obligation to
guarantee an uninterrupted supply to certain custenmcluding when there is an event of default.

There is an international consensus that, in otdedetermine credit quality, the ratings
provided by rating agencies must be taken into aaiccCredit ratings affect the pricing and other
conditions under which the Group obtains financifitns leads to the risk that following a
deterioration in the rating of the Guarantor, eggcbelow BBB- (or equivalent), all purchase
transactions would increase its guarantee requitesmghich would entail an increase in financial
costs possibly leading to transaction restrictidmssufficient bank guarantees were provided to al
counterparties. Any such downgrade in the credihgaof the Guarantor could restrict or limit the
Group’s access to the financial markets, incretsseew borrowing costs and have a negative effect
on its liquidity.

Restrictions on the Repatriation of Profits Obtalri®y Overseas Subsidiaries

Any payment of dividends, distributions, loans avances to the Group by its foreign
subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions artagation of, dividends or repatriation of earrsing
under applicable local law, monetary transfer retsbns and foreign currency exchange regulations
in the jurisdictions in which such subsidiaries @e. Furthermore, some of the Group’s Latin
American subsidiaries have entered into loan agee#snthat contain certain restrictions on the
payment of dividends and other distributions byhssabsidiaries, limiting the Group’s ability to
freely repatriate the earnings of those compaiffiegge Group were unable to repatriate the earnings
of its subsidiaries, its ability to pay dividendsdéor manage cash within the Group, for example to
redeploy earnings in other jurisdictions where thmuld be used more profitably, could be
adversely impacted.

Risks related to cybersecurity

The Group may be affected by threats to the avilifiglzonfidentiality, integrity and privacy
of both information assets and technologies whigbpsrt its business processes, as well as the risk
of non-compliance with regulations related to cgeerrity.

Examples of these threats include unauthorisedsact® as well as the use, disclosure,
degradation, interruption, modification or destraictof information, including as a consequence of
acts of terrorism, malicious attacks, sabotageahdr intentional acts. Unauthorised access to the
Group’s IT systems may also compromise businessalad customer information resulting in fines
and penalties as a consequence of violation of geatdection regulations and other legal
requirements. Such threats could also damage th&tat®on of the Group and have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, prospiaesicial condition or results of operations.

Risks in Relation to Taxation
Risks related to Spanish withholding tax

Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. considers that, pansuo the provisions of Royal Decree
1065/2007, it is not obliged to withhold taxes ipa$h on any interest paid under the Notes to any
Noteholder, irrespective of whether such Notehoidea tax resident in Spain. The foregoing is
subject to certain information procedures havingrbtulfilled. These requirements/procedures are
described in Taxation and Disclosure of Information in Connentigith the Noté's

According to Royal Decree 1065/2007 (as amenddddyal Decree 1145/2011), any interest
paid under securities that (i) can be regardedstesildebt securities issued under Law 10/2014, and
(ii) are initially registered at a foreign cleariagd settlement entity that is recognised undeniSpha
regulations or under those of another OECD mentage,swill be made free of Spanish withholding
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tax provided that the relevant paying agent futfils information procedures described Trakation

and Disclosure of Information in Connection witle ttNhotes—Taxation in Spain—Disclosure of
Information in Connection with the Notedlaturgy Capital Markets, S.A. considers that Kates
meet the requirements referred to in (i) and (ipwee and that, consequently, payments made by
Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. to Noteholders shobkl paid free of Spanish withholding tax
notwithstanding the information obligations of Nafy Capital Markets, S.A. under general
provisions of Spanish tax legislation by virtue which identification of Spanish tax resident
investors may be provided to the Spanish tax aititber

However, in the event that the current applicablecedures were modified, amended or
supplemented by, amongst others, a Spanish lawlatén, interpretation or ruling of the Spanish
Tax Authorities, Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. williform the Noteholders of such information
procedures and of their implications, as Naturgpit@h Markets, S.A. may be required to apply
withholding tax on interest payments under the Blatehe Noteholders would not comply with
such information procedures.

Risk relating to possible changes to Netherlanddegislation

On 18 September 2018, the Netherlands governmeesepted its Tax Plan 2019
(Belastingplan 201Pas part of Budget Day 201®rinsjesdag (the Tax Plan). The Tax Plan,
among other things, contains a proposal to intredudNetherlands withholding tax on payments of
interest to ‘low tax jurisdictions’ or countriesathare included on the EU list of non-cooperative
jurisdictions as of 1 January 2021. Based on alairtegislative proposal introducing a conditional
withholding tax on dividends and the supportindiparentary documents thereto, a jurisdiction will
most likely be considered as a 'low tax jurisdicti6 the general statutory rate on business @rafit
such jurisdiction is less than 9%.

At the date of this Prospectus it is not clear vtha exact scope and impact of the proposed
measure will be, as no draft bill is available y@ased on the information publicly available at the
date of this Prospectus, it seems unlikely thatpf@posed interest withholding tax will apply to
interest on debt instruments that are issued tehslunrelated to the Issuer, such as the Notes.

If, however, the scope of the proposal would cleaaugd the proposed withholding tax would
also apply to interest paid to unrelated recipieiitould potentially be applicable to interest
payments made under the Notes. In the event teapribposed measure would apply to payments
made under the Notes and the Issuer is requirpdyt@dditional amounts pursuant to the Terms and
Conditions, the Notes may be redeemed at the optidhe Issuer. A draft bill is expected to be
published in 2019.

Risks relating to the procedures for the collectidiNoteholders’ details

It is expected that Naturgy Capital Markets, Sthe Guarantor, the Agent, the common
depositary for the Notes and Euroclear and Clesasiy Luxembourg (th€learing System)swill
follow certain procedures to comply with the infation procedures described in sectidaXation
and Disclosure of Information in Connection witle tNotes. An overview of these procedures is set
out in a schedule to the Agency Agreement and shbel read together withTaxation and
Disclosure of Information in Connection with thet®g. Such procedures may be revised from time
to time in accordance with applicable Spanish lawd regulations, further clarification from the
Spanish tax authorities regarding such laws andlatigns, and the operational procedures of the
Clearing Systems. While the Notes are representazhb or more global Notes, Noteholders must
rely on such procedures in order to receive paysnantler the Notes free of any withholding, if
applicable. Noteholders must seek their own adtacensure that they comply with all applicable
procedures and to ensure the correct tax treatofigheir Notes. None of Naturgy Capital Markets,
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S.A., the Guarantor, the Arranger, the DealersPéging Agents or the Clearing Systems assumes
any responsibility in relation to this requirement.

The proposed European financial transactions tax

The European Commission published in February 281&oposal for a Directive for a
common financial transaction taEl{ FTT) in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, €&gan
Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia dleding Estonia, theparticipating Member
State3. Estonia has since stated that it will not pgotite.

The proposed EU FTT has very broad scope and cdfuidiroduced, apply to certain
dealings in financial instruments (including secarydmarket transactions) in certain circumstances.
The issuance and subscription of Notes should, herybe exempt.

Under the current proposals, the EU FTT could appbertain circumstances to persons both
within and outside of participating Member Sta@enerally, it would apply to certain dealings in
financial instruments where at least one party fnancial institution, and at least one party is
established in a participating Member State. Arfaial institution may be, or be deemed to be,
“established” in a participating Member State ibraad range of circumstances, including (a) by
transacting with a person established in a paditig Member State or (b) where the financial
instrument which is subject to the dealings iseskim a participating Member State.

In the ECOFIN meeting of 17 June 2016, the EU FTdswdiscussed between the EU
Member States. It was reiterated that participakifegnber States envisage introducing an EU FTT
by means of the so-called enhanced cooperation.

The proposed Directive defines how the EU FTT wolkd implemented in participating
Member States. It involves a minimum 0.1% tax rate transactions in all types of financial
instruments, except for derivatives that would bigiect to a minimum 0.01% tax rate.

The EU FTT proposal remains subject to negotidiietiveen the participating Member States
and the scope of any such tax is uncertain. It thagefore be changed prior to any implementation,
the timing of which remains unclear. Additional Blember States may decide to participate and
participating Members States may withdraw. Prospedtolders of the Notes are advised to seek
their own professional advice in relation to therET

The proposed Spanish financial transactions tax

On 19 October 2018, the Spanish Council of Mingstgsproved a draft bill (thBraft Bill),
according to which, due to the delay in the EU BEIhg approved, the intention is to implement a
Spanish financial transactions tax (tBpanish FTT). However, the Spanish Council of Ministers
stated that Spain would continue to participatthenenhanced co-operation for the approval of the
EU FTT and, if finally approved, Spain would addp Spanish FTT to align it with the EU FTT.

According to the Draft Bill, the Spanish FTT wilebaligned with the French and Italian
financial transactions tax. Specifically, it is posed that a Spanish FTT, at a rate of 0.2%, would
apply to certain acquisitions of listed shares asstby Spanish companies whose market
capitalisation exceeds €1 billion, regardless efjtlisdiction of residence of the parties involved
the transaction. Whilst, as currently drafted, $ipanish FTT would not apply in relation to an issue
of Notes under the Programme, there can be noas=ithat any such Spanish FTT would not
apply to an issue of Notes in the future.

The Draft Bill will be sent to parliament for debatnd approval. Since the Spanish
government currently does not have a majority theegi of the houses of parliament, it will need
support from several other political groups in oridesecure approval of the Draft Bill. As a result
some of the proposed measures could be substanti@dified (or even abandoned) during the

20



legislative process. Prospective holders of theebl@re advised to seek their own professional
advice in relation to the Spanish FTT.

Risks Relating to Spanish Insolvency Law

Law 22/2003 [(ey Concursaldated 9 July 2003 (tHasolvency Lav), which came into force
on 1 September 2004, supersedes all pre-existingi€p provisions regulating the bankruptcy and
insolvency (including suspension of payments) pedaags, including the ranking of creditors in an
insolvency scenario.

The Insolvency Law provides, among other thingst:thi) any claim may become
subordinated if it is not evidenced in the debtaesords or if it is not reported to the receivers
(administradores concursalpwithin one month from the day following the pualtion of the court
order declaring the insolvency in the Spanish @GfficGazette Boletin Oficial del Estado (i)
provisions in a contract granting one party théitrigp terminate as a result of the counterparty’s
declaration of insolvency would, on its own, notdsgorceable, (iii) interest (other than any ingtre
accruing under secured liabilities to the extent ap to the amount covered by the security intgrest
shall cease to accrue from the date of the de®@araf insolvency and any amount of interest
accrued up to such date (other than any interestiag under secured liabilities to the extent and
up to the amount covered by the security inteisdst)l become subordinated.

Certain provisions of the Insolvency Law could effthe ranking of claims relating to (i) the
Notes issued by Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. onir@olvency of such company or (i) the
guarantee of the Notes granted by the Guarantanansolvency of the Guarantor.

Pursuant to the Insolvency Law, creditors whosétsiglerive from a Spanish public deed
(escritura publicd do not rank ahead of other creditors in an insmby scenario.

Risks Relating to the Notes
Notes may not be a suitable investment for allstors

Each potential investor in any Notes must deteentire suitability of that investment in light
of its own circumstances. In particular, each pidemvestor should:

(i have sufficient knowledge and experience to enakmeaningful evaluation of the relevant
Notes, the merits and risks of investing in thevaht Notes and the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectasyapplicable supplement;

(i)  have access to, and knowledge of, appropaatdytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment irethelevant Notes and the impact such
investment will have on its overall investment palib;

(i)  have sufficient financial resources and lidity to bear all of the risks of an investmenttie t
relevant Notes, including where principal or ingris payable in one or more currencies, or
where the currency for principal or interest paytsas different from the potential investor’s
currency;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relé¢wdates and be familiar with the behaviour of
any relevant indices and financial markets; and

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with thlplof a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.
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Some Notes are complex financial instruments armth snstruments may be purchased as a
way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an undedt measured, appropriate addition of risk to
their overall portfolios. A potential investor shidunot invest in Notes which are complex financial
instruments unless it has the expertise (eithenealor with the help of a financial adviser) to
evaluate how the Notes will perform under changiagditions, the resulting effects on the value of
such Notes and the impact this investment will hamehe potential investor’s overall investment
portfolio.

There is no active trading market for the Notes

Notes issued under the Programme will be new deurivhich may not be widely
distributed and for which there is currently noigettrading market (unless, in the case of any
particular Tranche, such Tranche is to be condaltlavith and form a single series with an
outstanding Tranche of Notes). If the Notes ardedaafter their initial issuance, they may trade at
discount to their initial offering price, dependingpon prevailing interest rates, the market for
similar securities, general economic conditions tnedfinancial condition of the relevant Issuer and
the Guarantor. Although applications have been nfadthe Notes issued under the Programme to
be admitted to listing on the official list of theixembourg Stock Exchange and to trading on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchatlggre is no assurance that such applications
will be accepted, that any particular Tranche ofdsawill be so admitted or that an active trading
market will develop. Accordingly, there can be resw@ance as to the development or liquidity of
any trading market for any particular Tranche ofdso

The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

In the case of any particular Tranche of Notesyéhevant Final Terms specify that the Notes
are redeemable at the relevant Issuer’s opfammexample pursuant to Condition 6(&edemption
at the Option of the IssugrCondition 6(d) Residual Maturity Call Optign Condition 6(e)
(Redemption following a Substantial Purchase Eventondition 6(f) Make-Whole Redemptipn
In certain circumstances the relevant Issuer magos# to redeem the Notes at times when
prevailing interest rates may be relatively lowsulich circumstances, an investor may not be able to
reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparableisgat an effective interest rate as high as tha
of the relevant Tranche of Notes.

Because Notes in global form are held by or on BedfaEuroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg,
investors will have to rely on their procedures fransfer, payment and communication with the
relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor

Notes issued under the Programme may be represbytede or more global Notes. Such
global Notes will be deposited with a common dejaogi or safekeeper for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstandescribed in the relevant global Note,
investors will not be entitled to receive defingiWotes. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
will maintain records of the beneficial intereststhe global Notes. While the Notes are represented
by one or more global Notes, investors will be ablérade their beneficial interests only through
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While the Notes are represented by one or moreaglblotes, the relevant Issuer and the
Guarantor will discharge their payment obligatiamsder the Notes by making payments to the
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstreamnxeimbourg for distribution to their account
holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in abglbNote must rely on the procedures of Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive paymenteruti relevant Notes. The Issuers and the
Guarantor have no responsibility or liability féretrecords relating to, or payments made in respect
of, beneficial interests in the global Notes.
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Holders of beneficial interests in the global Notél$ not have a direct right to vote in respect
of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders valplermitted to act only to the extent that they are
enabled by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourgpjmoint appropriate proxies. Similarly,
holders of beneficial interests in the global Noigé not have a direct right under the global Note
to take enforcement action against the relevanetssr the Guarantor in the event of a default unde
the relevant Notes and instead will have to relgrugheir rights under the Deed of Covenant.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies asaign credit ratings to the Notes. The
ratings may not reflect the potential impact ofraks related to structure, market and other facto
that may affect the value of the Notes. A crediingis not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
Notes and may be subject to suspension, changétarawal by the assigning rating agency at any
time.

In general, European regulated investors are cestirunder Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009,
as amended (thERA Regulatior) from using credit ratings for regulatory purpgsesless such
ratings are issued by a credit rating agency asted in the EU and registered under the CRA
Regulation (and such registration has not beendwatin or suspended), subject to transitional
provisions that apply in certain circumstances sthihe registration application is pending. Such
general restriction will also apply in the case coédit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating
agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings adersad by an EU-registered credit rating agency or
the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified acadance with the CRA Regulation (and such
endorsement action or certification, as the casg beg has not been withdrawn or suspended).
Certain information with respect to the credit mgtiagencies and ratings will be disclosed in the
Final Terms.

The value of and return on any Notes linked torachenark may be adversely affected by ongoing
national and international regulatory reform in egion to benchmarks

Reference rates and indices such as EURIBOR or RIB@Qd other interest rate or other
types of rates and indices which are deemed tdobachmarks” (each Benchmarkand together,
the Benchmarkg, to which the interest on securities may be lihkeave become the subject of
regulatory scrutiny and recent national and intéonal regulatory guidance and proposals for
reform. This has resulted in regulatory reform @hdnges to existing Benchmarks, with further
change anticipated. Such reform of Benchmarks deduRegulation (EU) 2016/1011 on indices
used as benchmarks in financial instruments arahéiial contracts or to measure the performance
of investment funds (thBenchmarks Regulatiopwhich was published in the official journal on 29
June 2016. In addition, on 27 July 2017, the UKaRiial Conduct Authority announced that it
would no longer persuade or compel banks to sulbatés for the calculation of the LIBOR
benchmark after 2021 (thECA Announcement. The FCA Announcement indicates that the
continuation of LIBOR on the current basis canmat @ill not be guaranteed after 2021.

The potential elimination of the LIBOR benchmarkamy other Benchmark, or changes in
the manner of administration of any Benchmark, aeslt of the Benchmarks Regulation or
otherwise, could require an adjustment to the Gmndi, or result in other consequences, in respect
of any Notes linked to such Benchmark. These refoamd changes may cause a Benchmark to
perform differently than it has done in the pasberdiscontinued. For example, if any Benchmark is
discontinued, then the Rate of Interest on thetlfigdrate Notes will be determined by the fall-back
provisions provided for under Condition Biteres), although such provisions, being dependent in
part upon the provision by Reference Banks of effequotations for the relevant Benchmark, may
not operate as intended (depending on market cgtamoes and the availability of rates information
at the relevant time). This may result in the dffecapplication pursuant to the Conditions of a
fixed rate based on the rate or rates which apmredere offered in the previous Interest Period
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when such Benchmark was available. Any change én pérformance of a Benchmark or its
discontinuation could have a material adverse effadhe value of, and return on, any such Notes.

Risks Related to the Denominations of the Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which under tlenditions have a minimum denomination
of euro 100,000 plus a higher integral multipleaobther smaller amount (or, where the specified
currency is not euro, its equivalent in the spediturrency) (each, Specified Denominatio) it is
possible that Notes may be traded in the cleanstesms in amounts in excess of euro 100,000 (or
its equivalent in the specified currency). In sichase, should definitive Notes be required to be
issued, a holder who, as a result of trading, haldsncipal amount of less than euro 100,000téor i
equivalent in the specified currency) in his acdowmith the relevant clearing system at the relevant
time may not receive all of his entitlement in them of definitive Notes, and consequently may not
be able to receive interest or principal in resgédll of his entittement, unless and until suichet
as his holding becomes an integral multiple of &c8@d Denomination. Furthermore, at any
meeting of Noteholders while Notes are represelnyeal Permanent Global Note, any vote cast shall
only be valid if it is in respect of a minimum ofire 100,000 (or its equivalent in the specified
currency).

Risks Related to the Structure of a Particular Issa of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Brogre. A number of these Notes may
have features which contain particular risks faleptial investors. Set out below is a descriptibn o
the most common of such features.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the reléVssuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likety limit their market value. During any
period when the relevant Issuer may elect to redéies, the market value of those Notes
generally will not rise substantially above thecprat which they can be redeemed. This may also be
true prior to any redemption period.

The relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Ndtes its cost of borrowing is lower
than the interest rate on the Notes. At those timesnvestor would generally not be able to restve
the redemption proceeds at an effective interdstaa high as the interest rate on the Notes being
redeemed, and may only be able to do so at a isignilfy lower rate. Potential investors should
consider reinvestment risk in light of other invashts available at that time.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest atta tizat the relevant Issuer may elect to
convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate ornfr@a floating rate to a fixed rate. The relevant
Issuer’s ability to convert the interest rate waiffect the secondary market and the market value of
the Notes since such relevant Issuer may be expezteonvert the rate when it is likely to produce
a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the relevasguer converts from a fixed rate to a floatingrat
the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes majege favourable than prevailing spreads on
comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the sanezarfe rate. In addition, the new floating rate at
any time may be lower than the rates on other Ndtéke relevant Issuer converts from a floating
rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lowantthe prevailing rates on the Notes prior to such
conversion.

Calculation Agent

The relevant Issuer may appoint a Dealer as Cdionl#&gent in respect of an issuance of
Notes under the Programme. In such a case the I@#&cuAgent is likely to be a member of an
international financial group that is involved,thre ordinary course of its business, in a wide eang
of banking activities out of which conflicting imests may arise. Whilst such a Calculation Agent
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will, where relevant, have information barriers gmcedures in place to manage conflicts of
interest, it may in its other banking activitiesrfr time to time be engaged in transactions invglvin
an index or related derivatives which may affecbants receivable by Noteholders during the term
and on the maturity of the Notes or the marketepiliquidity or value of the Notes and which could
be deemed to be adverse to the interests of thehNlokers.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a sulfetagiscount or premium from their
principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relatiorgeneral changes in interest rates than dorice
for conventional interest-bearing securities. Galgr the longer the remaining term of the
securities, the greater the price volatility as pared to conventional interest-bearing securitigs w
comparable maturities.

In respect of any Notes issued with a specificofiggoceeds, such as a Green Bond, there can be no
assurance that such use of proceeds will be seitftlthe investment criteria of an investor

The net proceeds from the issue of any Notes wlob-lent by the relevant Issuer to the
Guarantor to be used by the Group for general catp@urposes. The Guarantor may also choose
to apply the proceeds from the issue of any Nagpesiically to finance and/or refinance, in whole
or in part, Eligible Green Projects in accordandd wrescribed eligibility criteria (any such Notes
Green Bond}. See also the section entitlddse of Proceeddor further detail.

Regardless of whether any Notes are listed or aehnib trading on any dedicated “green”,
“environmental”, “sustainable” or other equivalgnthbelled segment of any stock exchange or
securities market, no assurance is given by e@htite Issuers, the Guarantor or the Dealers Hwmat t
use of such proceeds for any Eligible Green Prejadli satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any
present or future investor expectations or requimrEs) as regards any investment criteria or
guidelines with which such investor or its invesirtseare required to comply whether by any
present or future applicable law or regulationsbgrits own by-laws or other governing rules or
investment portfolio mandates, in particular witdgard to any direct or indirect environmental,
sustainability or social impact of any projectauses, the subject of or related to, any Eligibleedr
Projects. In addition, although the relevant Issarethe Guarantor may agree at the time of issue of
any Green Bonds to apply the proceeds of any GBmrs so specified in, or substantially in
accordance with, the eligibility criteria, it wouttbt be an Event of Default under the Notes if the
relevant Issuer or the Guarantor were to fail tagly with such obligations for whatever reason.

In connection with the issue of Green Bonds, aasuability rating agency or sustainability
consulting firm may issue a second-party opiniohdther or not requested by the relevant Issuer or
the Guarantor) confirming that the Eligible Greenj€cts have been defined in accordance with the
broad categorisation of eligibility for green prcge and/or a second-party opinion regarding the
suitability of the Notes as an investment in cotioecwith certain environmental and sustainability
projects (any such second-party opiniorsexond-party Opiniop A Second-party Opinion would
not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell od ls&curities, would only be current as of the date
it is released and would not be, nor would be dektoée, incorporated in and/or form part of this
Base Prospectus.

Any failure to apply the proceeds of any issue of&B Bonds in connection with Eligible
Green Projects, or any failure to meet, or contittueneet the eligibility criteria, or the withdrawa
of any Second-Party Opinion or any such Notes ngdo being listed or admitted to trading on any
stock exchange or securities market may have arialaselverse effect on the value of such Notes
and also potentially the value of any other Notdsctv are intended by either Issuer to finance
Eligible Green Projects or result in adverse cousages for certain investors with portfolio
mandates to invest in securities to be used foaricplar purpose. Prospective investors must
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determine for themselves whether the proposed @eeds meet their requisite investment criteria
and conduct any other investigations they deemssacg to reach their own conclusions as to the
merits of investing in any such Green Bonds.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The documents set out below, which have been pushigoublished and which have been
filed with the CSSF, shall be deemed to be incatmat by reference in, and to form part of, this
Base Prospectus. As long as any of the Notes aseaading, this Base Prospectus, any Supplement
to the Base Prospectus (as defined below) and @actment incorporated by reference into this
Base Prospectus will be available for inspectioee fof charge, at the specified offices of the
Issuers, at the specified office of the Agent, migimormal business hours, and on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.bourse.lu. Theepaferences indicated for each document
are to the page numbering of the electronic pdfiesopf such documents as available at
www.bourse.lu.

Page
Information incorporated by reference references
(A) The sections listed below of the Annual Report 2019f Gas Natural SDG, S.A., including the audited

consolidated annual accounts as at and for the yeanded 31 December 2017 together with the audit
report thereon:

(a) Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidatedwal account: 2-10
(b) Consolidated annual accounts of Gas Natural SDGA. Sand subsidiar
companies comprising the Gas Natural SDG, S.A. (sfou the financial year 11-145
2017:
- Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 201 2GH6................... 12
- Consolidated income statement for the years eBdelecember 2017
13
AN 2016, ...ttt ee s
- Consolidated statement of comprehensive incomthéoyears ended 14
31 December 2017 and 2016 ..........ccuvvvvimeeeeee e e
- Statement of changes in consolidated net eqoiitihe years ended 31 15
December 2017 and 2016..........oouuviriiieeeeeeeiiiiiee e
- Consolidated cash flow statement for the yeade@i31 December 16
2007 AN 2016 ...ceeeeieiiiiiiiiieee e
- Notes to the consolidated annual accounts fo7 201.............ccccooiins 17-132
- PN o] 01T o 1o = 133-145
(c) Consolidated Directors’ Report 20 146-231
(B) The sections listed below of the Annual Report 2016 Gas Natural SDG, S.A., including the audited

consolidated annual accounts as at and for the yeanded 31 December 2016 together with the audit
report thereon:

(a) Independent Auditors’ report on the consolidatedwal account: 2.3
(b) Consolidated annual accounts of Gas Natural SDGA. Sand subsidiar
companies comprising the Gas Natural SDG, S.A. (sfou the financial year 4-145
2016:
- Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2018GH5................... 5
- Consolidated income statement for the years eBdelecember 2016 6
AN 2005, ..o ee s
- Consolidated statement of comprehensive incomthéoyears ended 7
31 December 2016 and 2015 ..........ccuvvvimeeeeee e
- Statement of changes in consolidated net eqoitihe years ended 31 8

December 2016 and 2015........ccovvuiieieiieeeeeee e

27



©

D)

(B)

- Consolidated cash flow statement for the yeade@i31 December

2016 AN 2015 ....eiieiiiiieiee e o
- Notes to the consolidated annual accounts foB201.............ccccoeviiins 10-131
- PN o] 01T o [To7 = 132-145
(c) Consolidated Directors’ Report 20 146-197

The unaudited condensed interim consolidated finanal statements of Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.
in relation to the six-month period ended 30 June @18, together with the auditors’ limited review
report and directors’ report thereon:

(a) Condensedhterim consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2018 1-46
- Interim consolidated balance sheet at 30 Jun® 20l 31 December 5
2 PSS
- Interim consolidated income statement for thensonth periods ended 3
30 June 2018 @nd 201 7....ccceiiiiiiiiiiiii e e
- Interim consolidated statement of comprehensne@me for the six- 4

month periods ended 30 June 2018 and 2017 ..cccceeerveeveeeiiiieenaannnn.

- Interim consolidated statement of changes intgdor the six-month 5
period ended 30 June 2018 and 31 December 2017 cccc...vvvvvvrvnnnnnnn
- Interim consolidated cash flow statement for #ie-month periods 6
ended 30 June 2018 and 2017.......ccooeviieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
- Notes to the condensed interim consolidated @izustatements.......... 7-44
- APPENAICES ... eeeiiiiiiit ettt ettt 45-46
(b) Consolidated Directors’ Report at 30 June 2018 47-82
(c) Report on limited review of condensed interim cbdated financial statements 83-87

The unaudited interim consolidated financial ifformation of Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. in relation
to the nine-month period ended 30 September 2018:

- EXECULIVE SUMMAIY ... eiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieiememmeeeeeeeeeeeene s eeeeeeeeeeennnnnnnnnn 3-4
- Key comparability factors and non-recurrent items.............oeeeeeeeeeeecicciieennn. 5-6
- CoNSONAAtEd FESUILS ......evveeiiiieeee e 7-9
- Results by business unit 10-19
- CASN FIOW L. 20-21
- Financial POSItION .........cooii i 22-24
- ANNEXES .. i e 25-40
- Financial StatemMeNtS ...........uviiiiiiii e 25-36
- Regulatory diSCIOSUIES .......cceeeeeeieeeeeeeeeee e 37
- GlOSSArY Of tEIMS ... e 38-40

The audited annual report for the year ended 31 Deanber 2017 of Gas Natural Fenosa Finance B.V.:

@) Annual Report 3-58
- Board of Managing Directors REPOIt ..........ceeeeeniiiiiimmeeeeeeiiieiiiiieeennnnnnns 4-9
- SUPErvisoryBOArd REPOI ......ccuiiiiiiiieeeeeis i et e e e 10-12
(b) Financial Statements 13-47

28



- Statement of Financial Position as per 31 Decer@@gr...................... 13

- Statement of Income for the year ended 31 Dece@@®r................... 14
- Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for thar yended 31
14
DECEMDET 2017 ...t iee et e
- Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 Dece®is ................... 15
- Statement of Changes in Equity for the year erf®ddeBecember 2017.. 16

- Notes to the financial statements for the yealedr81 December 2017 17-47

(c) Other Information 48-58
- Other information to the financial statementstfa year ended 31
48
DECEMDET 2017 ...t ee ettt
- Independent auditors’ rEPOIT...........evveeeeeieiiiiiiiiee e eaes 49-58
F) The audited annual report for the year ended 31 Deanber 2016 of Gas Natural Fenosa Finance B.V.:
@) Annual Report 3-10
- Board of Managing Directors REPOIt ..........ceeeeeniiiiiimmeeeeeeiiiiiiiiienennnnnnns 3-8
- SUPErviSOryBOArd REPOIM ......ccuiiiiiiiieeeeeis i ettt e e e 9-10
(b) Financial Statements 11-44
- Statement of Financial Position as per 31 Decer@0g6..................... 11
- Statement of Income for the year ended 31 Dece@@iS................... 11
- Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for thar yended 31
12
DECEMDET 20L6......uueiiiiiiieeeiiiiiiie et
- Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 Dece@ié................... 13
- Statement of Changes in Equity for the year erddeBecember 2016.. 14

- Notes to the financial statements for the yealedr81 December 2016 15-44
(c) Other Information 45-53

- Other information to the financial statementstfa year ended 31

DECEMDET 20L6......uueeiiiiiieeeiiiiiiie et 45
- Independent aUditors’ FEPOM............uuvrrreeeieeeeee e e eeees 46-53
(G) The audited annual accounts of Gas Natural CapitaMarkets, S.A., and the auditors’ report thereon
in relation to the year ended 31 December 2017:
@) Independent Auditors’ Report 2017 2-6
(b) Annual Accounts 7-31
- Balance Sheet at 31 December 2017 and 2016............oeevnvvicennnnnn. 8
- Income Statement for the years ended 31 Deceiiar and 2016........ 9
- Statement of changes in net equity for the yesded 31 December 10
2007 AN 2016 ...evvieieeeieiiiiiiie e
- Cash Flow Statement for the years ended 31 Deszegtl17 and 2016.. 11
- Notes to the Annual Accounts for the year ende®8cember 2017....... 9-31
(c) Directors’ Report 2017 32-36
(H) The audited annual accounts of Gas Natural CapitaMarkets, S.A., and the auditors’ report thereon

in relation to the year ended 31 December 2016:

29



V)

Q)

(K)

L

M)

(N)

©)

(P)

Q)

(R)

@) Independent Auditors’ Report 2016

(b) Annual Accounts
- Balance Sheet at 31 December 2016 and 2015...........ccoovvimimmneennn.
- Income Statement for the years ended 31 Dece®iids and 2015........

- Statement of Income and Expenses recognisechéoyaars ended 31
December 2016 and 2015 .......ccooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeiiiee e

- Statement of changes in net equity for the yesided 31 December
2016 AN 2015 ..o e

- Cash Flow Statement for the years ended 31 Dezeftli6 and 2015..
- Notes to the Annual Accounts for the year ende@®8cember 2016......

(c) Directors’ Report 2016

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued by Ng#sral Capital Markets, S.A. of the
base prospectus dated 2 December 2008 relatiig tBrogramme ................coeeeeeeeecceee..

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued by Ngesaral Capital Markets, S.A. of the
base prospectus dated 15 December 2009 relatthg rogramme ..............ccceevvvvvvinne.

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued byNgssaral Capital Markets, S.A. of the
base prospectus dated 10 November 2010 relatithg tBrogramme.............ccooevvvvvvvinn.

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued by Ngesaral Capital Markets, S.A. of the
base prospectus dated 14 November 2011 relatithg tBrogramme.............ccooevvvvvvvine.

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued by IG#sral Fenosa Finance B.V. of the
base prospectus dated 26 November 2012 relatithg tBrogramme..............coeevvvvvvvinn.

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued by IG#sral Fenosa Finance B.V. of the
base prospectus dated 19 November 2013 relatithg tBrogramme..............ccoevvvvvviinn.

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued byNgdisral Fenosa Finance B.V. of the
base prospectus dated 12 December 2014 relatthg erogramme

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued byNgdisral Fenosa Finance B.V. of the
base prospectus dated 2 December 2015 relatiig tBrogramme

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued byNgdisral Fenosa Finance B.V. and Gas
Natural Capital Markets, S.A. of the base prospedaied 2 December 2016 relating to the
Programme

The terms and conditions of the Notes issued byNgdisral Fenosa Finance B.V. and Gas
Natural Capital Markets, S.A. of the base prosgedated 30 November 2017 relating to
the Programme

shall prevail.
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The information incorporated by reference thatas included in the cross-reference list, is
considered as additional information and is nouiregl by the relevant schedules of Commission
Regulation (EC) No 809/2004, as amended. Certdowmrmation incorporated by reference into this
Base Prospectus has been translated from the arigpanish. Each such translation constitutes a
direct and accurate translation of the Spanishuagg text. The English language information has
been provided for information purposes only anthmevent of a discrepancy, the Spanish version

Any statement contained in a document that is ddeémée incorporated by reference herein
shall be deemed to be modified or superseded #opthpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent
that a statement contained herein modifies or seges such earlier statement (whether expressly,
by implication or otherwise). Any statement so nfiedi or superseded shall not be deemed, except
as so modified or superseded, to constitute aqfdtiis Base Prospectus. To the extent that any



document or information incorporated by refererwehis Base Prospectus itself incorporates any
information by reference, either expressly or iegly, such information will not form part of this
Base Prospectus for the purposes of the ProspBitastive, except where such information or
documents are stated within this Base Prospectspexsfically being incorporated by reference or
where this Base Prospectus is specifically defageuhcluding such information.

SUPPLEMENT TO THIS PROSPECTUS

If at any time the relevant Issuer shall be respiito prepare a supplement to this Base
Prospectus pursuant to Article 13 of the Luxembd\eg) the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor shall
prepare and make available an appropriate suppletoethis Base Prospectus or a further base
prospectus, which, in respect of any subsequené is§ Notes to be listed on the official list oéth
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to tradingtltee Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s
regulated market, shall constitut&applement to the Base Prospectas required by Article 13 of
the Luxembourg Act.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be catghnd is taken from, and is qualified
in its entirety by, the remainder of this documamd, in relation to the terms and conditions of any
particular Tranche of Notes, trepplicable Final Terms. Words and expressions @efiim “Form
of the Notes” and “Terms and Conditions of Notesued by Naturgy Finance B.V.” or “Terms and
Conditions of Notes issued by Naturgy Capital M&gk&.A.”, as applicable, below shall have the
same meanings in this overview.

Issuers: Naturgy Finance B.V. and Naturgy Capitalikéts, S.A.

LEI: Naturgy Finance B.V.: 959800DJELPWX1LAT467
Naturgy Capite Markets, S.A: 2138005FTX0OJUBQ5J5!

Guarantor: Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.
Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme
Arranger: Citigroup Global Markets Limited
Dealers: Banca IMI, S.p.A.

Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.

Banco Santander, S.A.

Barclays Bank PLC

BNP Paribas

CaixaBank, S.A.

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

HSBC Bank plc

ING Bank N.V.

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

MUFG Securities EMEA plc

NatWest Markets Plc

Société Générale

UniCredit Bank AG

and any other dealer appointed from time to timéheylssuers
either in respect of the Programme generally imaelation to
a particular Tranche (as defined below) of Notdg.on

Agent: Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Amount: Up to euro 15,000,000,000 (or its equivalarother currencies
calculated as described in the Programme Agreement)
aggregate principal amount of Notes outstandingrgt time.
The Issuers and the Guarantor may increase therdarbthe
Programme in accordance with the terms of the Rrogre
Agreement.

Distribution: Subject to applicable selling redioos, Notes may be
distributed by way of private or public placemendan each
case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.
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Currencies:

Maturities:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Subject to any applicable legal or leguy restrictions, such
currencies as may be agreed between the relevauntr|sthe
Guarantor and the relevant Dealer including butlmoited to
euro, U.S. dollars, Yen and Sterling.

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency spea of
which particular laws, guidelines, regulations,tniegons or
reporting requirements apply will only be issued in
circumstances which comply with such laws, guidsdin
regulations, restrictions or reporting requiremefnben time to
time.

Such maturities as may be agreed betwiee relevant Issuer,
the Guarantor and the relevant Dealer and as itedica the
applicable final terms for such issue of Notes (ffiaal
Terms, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as
may be allowed or required from time to time by thé&evant
central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws ayutations
applicable to the relevant Issuer, the Guarantaherrelevant
Specified Currency.

Unless permitted by then current laws and regulatiavhere
Notes have a maturity of less than one year afere{a) the
issue proceeds are received by the relevant I&sube United
Kingdom or (b) the activity of issuing the Notescarried on
from an establishment maintained by the relevasuds in the
United Kingdom, such Notes must: (i) have a minimum
redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent dther
currencies) and be issued only to persons whoseanyd
activities involve them in acquiring, holding, maiey or
disposing of investments (as principal or agent}lie purposes
of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expdll
acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investmentpr{asipal or
agent) for the purposes of their businesses; pbéiissued in
other circumstances which do not constitute a ewsfntion of
section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets 2000 by
the relevant Issuer.

Notes may be issued at an issue wtdeh is at par or at a
discount to, or premium over, par. The issue pacel the
nominal amount of the relevant tranche of Notesl i
determined before filing of the relevant Final Teriwf each
Tranche on the basis of the prevailing market doord.

Each Tranche of Notes will initiallye represented by a
temporary global noteTemporary Global Notgwhich will:

() if the global Notes are intended to be issuedéaw global
note NGN) form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms,
be delivered on or prior to the relevant Issue Oata
common safekeeper (th€ommon Safekeepgr for
Euroclear Bank SA/NV Huroclear) and Clearstream
Banking, S.A. Clearstream, Luxembourg or
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Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

(i) if the global Notes are not intended to beugss in NGN
form, be delivered on or prior to the relevant sf@ate to
a common depositary (th€ommon Depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Interests in each Temporary Global Note will be haxged

either for interests in a permanent global NdBer(nanent

Global Notg or definitive Notes (as indicated in the applieab
Final Terms) in either case not earlier than 40sdafger the

Issue Date upon certification of non-U.S. benefioianership

as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations.

Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeabldégesan
otherwise specified in the applicable Final Termsyhole but
not in part for definitive Notes in accordance with terms.
Any interest in a global Note will be transferaldaly in
accordance with the rules and procedures for the hieing of
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and for anyrotigeeed
clearance system as appropriate.

Fixed interest will be payablesanh date or dates as may be
agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guaramidr tlae
relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicableFirerms) and
on redemption.

Floating Rate Notes will béaterest at a rate determined
either:

() on the same basis as the floating rate undaotenal
interest-rate swap transaction in the relevant iBpdc
Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the
2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the Interoaal
Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and asnae@
and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Timo€the
Notes of the relevant Series); or

(i) on the basis of a reference rate appearinghenagreed
screen page of a commercial quotation service; or

(iii) on such other basis as may be agreed betieerelevant
Issuer, the Guarantor and the relevant Dealer,

as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

The Margin (if any) relating to such Floating Ratetes will be
agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guaramtdr tlae
relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating Rateslo

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum irteets, a
minimum interest rate, or both (as indicated in épplicable
Final Terms).

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of ebtbrest
Period, as selected prior to the issue by the aelelssuer, the
Guarantor and the relevant Dealer(s), will be plyan the
first day of the next Interest Period or, in theeaf the final
Interest Payment Date, on the Maturity Date spedifin the
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applicable Final Terms and will be calculated it@dance
with the relevant Day Count Fraction or as otheewiglicated
in the applicable Final Terms.

Interest Periods for Such period(s) as the relevant Issuer, the Guaramd the

Floating Rate Notes: relevant Dealer may agree (as indicated in theicgige Final
Terms).

Zero Coupon Notes: Zero Coupon Notes will be offead sold at a discount to

their nominal amount and will not bear interesteotthan in the
case of late payment.

Redemption: Unless previously redeemed or purchasedcancelled, each
Note will be redeemed by the relevant Issuer,rfgilivhich the
Guarantor at its Final Redemption Amount on the uvigt
Date (in the case of a Note other than a Floatiatg Rlote) or
on the Specified Interest Payment Date falling ime t
Redemption Month (in the case of a Floating RatéeeN&Guch
Final Redemption Amount in respect of any Note Ishalits
principal amount or such higher amount as may leeied in
the relevant Final Terms.

The Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notiisindicate
either that such Notes cannot be redeemed pritetio stated
maturity (other than in specified instalments (betow) or for
taxation reasons or following an Event of Defaolt)that such
Notes will be redeemable prior to their stated migtwat the
option of the relevant Issuer and/or the Notehalder

The Final Terms may provide that such Notes may be
redeemable in two or more instalments of such amtsoaind on
such dates as are indicated in the applicable Figahs.

Notes which have a maturity of less than one yeay ime
subject to restrictions on their denomination aigtrithution.
See ‘Maturities’ above.

Denominations of Definitive Notes will be in such denominations asymbe

Notes: specified in the relevant Final Terms, save tha}: te
minimum denomination of each Note will be such antoas
may be allowed or required, from time to time, hg televant
regulatory authority or any laws or regulations lagayle to the
relevant Specified Currency; and (i) the minimum
denomination of each Note admitted to trading aregulated
market within the European Economic Area or offetedhe
public in a Member State of the European EconommieaAin
circumstances that require the publication of apectus under
the Prospectus Directive will be euro 100,000 {®reguivalent
in any other currency as at the date of issueeoNbtes).

So long as the Notes are represented by a TempQiabal
Note or Permanent Global Note and the relevantricga
system(s) so permit, the Notes will be tradeably ¢e) if the
Specified Denomination stated in the relevant Fihatms is
“euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in another curgghcin the
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Taxation on Notes
issued by Naturgy
Finance B.V.:

Taxation on Notes
issued by Naturgy

Capital Markets, S.A.:

authorised denomination of euro 100,000 (or itsivedent in
another currency) and integral multiples of eur6,000 (or its
equivalent in another currency) thereafter, oif()e Specified
Denomination stated in the relevant Final Terms“ésiro
100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) amegral
multiples of euro 1,000 (or its equivalent in amstburrency) in
excess thereof’, in the minimum authorised denotionaof
euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in another currgrayd higher
integral multiples of euro 1,000 (or its equivaléntanother
currency), notwithstanding that no definitive Notedl be
issued with a denomination above euro 199,000 ({sr i
equivalent in another currency).

Subject to certain exceptions, all payments ineespf Notes
issued by Naturgy Finance B.V. will be made withdetiuction
for or on account of withholding taxes. See Conditil0
(Taxatior), “Taxation and Disclosure of Information in
Connection with the Notes—Taxation in The Nethedan
Issues by Naturgy Finance B'\and “Taxation and Disclosure
of Information in Connection with the Notes—Taxatim
Spain—Payments under the Guarahtee

All payments in respect of the Notes issued by Ngt€Capital
Markets, S.A. will be made without deduction for, on
account of, withholding taxes imposed by Spain sslsuch
taxes are required by law to be withheld. In thent\that any
such deduction is made, Naturgy Capital Marketé, 8r, as
the case may be, the Guarantor, will, save in icerta
circumstances provided in Condition IDakatior), be required
to pay additional amounts to cover any amountsesiucted.

Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. considers that, adicay to
Royal Decree 1065/2007 (as amended), it is notgetlito
withhold taxes in Spain in relation to interestdoan the Notes
to any investor (whether tax resident in Spain @) provided
that the information procedures described in sactitaxation
and Disclosure of Information in Connection withe tNotes,
which do not require identification of the Noteheld, are
fulfilled.

In the event that the current applicable procedunese
modified, amended or supplemented by, amongst dkiegs,
Spanish law, regulation, interpretation or ruliffgttee Spanish
Tax Authorities, Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. witform the
Noteholders of such information procedures and fofirt
implications, as Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A. ngyrequired
to apply withholding tax on interest payments unither Notes
if the Noteholders would not comply with such infation
procedures.

For further information regarding the interpretatiof Royal
Decree 1065/2007 (as amended), please refer Resk*
Factors—Risks in Relation to Taxation—Risks related
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Status of the Notes:

Status of the Guarantee:

Cross-Default:

Negative Pledge:

Rating:

Listing and Admission
to Trading:

Spanish Withholding Téxand “Risk Factors—Risks in Relation
to Taxation—Risks relating to the procedures fer ¢bllection
of Noteholders’ details”

The Notes will constitute airenconditional, unsubordinated
and (subject to the Negative Pledge referred toovijel
unsecured obligations of each Issuer and will rpak passu
without any preference among themselves and (sutgeany
applicable statutory exceptions) at legstri passuwith all
other present and future unsecured and unsubcedinat
obligations of the relevant Issuer.

The Notes will be uncmnrditly and irrevocably guaranteed
by the Guarantor pursuant to a deed of guaranbeeDg@ed of
Guaranteg.

The obligations of the Guarantor under the DeeGuadrantee
will constitute direct, unconditional unsubordirégnd (subject
to Condition 4 Negative Pledge unsecured obligations of the
Guarantor and (subject to any applicable statuxgeptions)
will rank at leastpari passuwith all other present and future
outstanding, unsecured and unsubordinated obligatad the
Guarantor.

The Notes will contain a cross-difau respect of Relevant
Indebtedness (as defined in ConditionNegative Pledge of
the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor and certaintheir
subsidiaries.

The Notes will have the benefia olegative pledge in respect
of Relevant Indebtedness of the relevant Issuer&harantor
and certain of their subsidiaries. The negativelgieis subject
to permitted security interests which include, arg not limited
to, certain security interests created in respédhe project
finance activities of the Group. For the detailstioé negative
pledge provision, please refer to ConditiorNégative Pledge

Notes issued under the Programme may leel @t unrated.
Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such ratingheilspecified
in the relevant Final Terms. Such rating will netcessarily be
the same as the rating assigned to Notes alrealyeds
Whether or not a rating in relation to any Tranch&lotes will

be treated as having been issued by a credit ratgency
established in the European Union and registeretktruthe
CRA Regulation on credit rating agencies will bectbsed in
the relevant Final Terms.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell ddhdotes and
may be subject to suspension, change or withdratahy time
by the assigning rating agency.

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stoahange
for Notes issued under the Programme to be adniitéchding
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated maakdtto
be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg&t Exchange
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Governing Law:

Selling Restrictions:

Redenomination:

or as otherwise specified in the relevant Final migr As
specified in the relevant Final Terms, a Serieblates may be
unlisted.

Unlisted Notes may only be issued by Naturgy FieaBcV.
but not by Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A.

The Final Terms relating to each issue will stateethier or not
and, if so, on which stock exchange(s) the Notesabe listed.

Save as otherwise set out in thagvaph below, the conditions
of the Notes will be governed by, and construeddoordance
with, English law.

In relation to Notes issued by Naturgy Finance BGbndition
3 (Status of the Deed of Guarantewill be governed by
Spanish law.

In relation to Notes issued by Naturgy Capital Mdsk S.A.,
Condition 2 Gtatus of the Notgsind Condition 3%tatus of the
Deed of Guarantéewill be governed by Spanish law. In
addition, the Notes will be issued in accordancehwhe
formalities prescribed by Spanish law.

There are local and worldwsgdling restrictions in relation to
the laws of the United States, the European Econoknea
(including the United Kingdom, France, the Repuldlcitaly,
Spain and The Netherlands), Japan and Singaporesactd
other restrictions as may be required in connectigth the
offering and sale of a particular Tranche of Not&ee
“Subscription and Sdle

The Notes are Category 2 for the purposes of Régunl S
under the Securities Act.

The Notes will be issued in compliance with U.$eds. Reg.
81.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules instahtially the
same form that are applicable for purposes of Sectir0O1 of
the Code) TEFRA D) unless the Notes are issued other than in
compliance with TEFRA D but in circumstances in ethihe
Notes will not constitute registration—required obligatioris
under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Resipdity

Act of 1982 TEFRA), which circumstances will be referred to
in the relevant Final Terms as a transaction tcWwHiEFRA is

not applicable.

Certain Notes may be redenominatediro. See Condition 7
(Payments
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF NOTES
ISSUED BY NATURGY FINANCE B.V.

The following is the text of the terms and condgiovhich, subject to completion in
accordance with the provisions of the relevant Fimarms, will be endorsed on each Note in
definitive form issued by Naturgy Finance B.V. urithe Programme. The terms and conditions
applicable to any Note in global form will diffelofn those terms and conditions which would apply
to the Note were it in definitive form to the extelescribed in the Base Prospectus dated
21 December 2018 relating to the Notes, under “Faifthe Notes”.

Naturgy Finance B.V. and Naturgy Capital Market#\.$iave established a Euro Medium
Term Note Programme (tiRrogrammg for the issuance of up to Euro 15,000,000,008ggregate
nominal amount of Notes (tidoteg guaranteed by Naturgy Energy Group, S.A.

Notes issued under the Programme are issued esgeach &eriey and each Series may
comprise one or more tranches (each a TrancheptsNEach Tranche is the subject of final terms
(the Final Terms) which completes these terms and conditions @Gbeditiong. The terms and
conditions applicable to any particular TrancheéNotes are these Conditions as completed by the
relevant Final Terms. All subsequent referenceth@se Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes
which are the subject of the relevant Final Teriit®e Notes are the subject of an amended and
restated agency agreement dated on or about 21nbece2018(the Agency Agreementwhich
expression shall include any further amendmenssipplements thereto) and made between Naturgy
Finance B.V. (théssuen, Naturgy Capital Markets, S.A., Naturgy Energyo@®s, S.A. as Guarantor
(the Guarantor), Citibank, N.A., London Branch in its capacity &gent (theAgent or Calculation
Agent which expressions shall include any successd€itibank, N.A., London Branch in its
capacity as such) and the Paying Agents namedithghe Paying Agents which expression shall
include the Agent and any substitute or additidP@ying Agents appointed in accordance with the
Agency Agreement). The Notes, the Receipts an@thgons (each as defined below) also have the
benefit of a deed of covenant (tlizeed of Covenantwhich expression shall include any
amendments or supplements thereto) dated on ot abhddecember 2018xecuted by the Issuers in
relation to the Notes. The Guarantor has, for #heefit of the holders of the Notes from time togim
(the Noteholder3, executed and delivered a deed of guaranteeDgleel of Guaranteedated on or
about 21 December 2018nder which it has guaranteed the due and pungamment of all
amounts due by the Issuer under the Notes and ¢eel Of Covenant as and when the same shall
become due and payable.

Interest bearing definitive Notes (unless otherviigticated in the applicable Final Terms)
have interest coupon€g¢upong and, if indicated in the applicable Final Ternapns for further
Coupons Talong) attached on issue. Any reference herein to Caalporcoupons shall, unless the
context otherwise requires, be deemed to includefeaence to Talons or talons. Definitive Notes
repayable in instalments have receigRedeipty for the payment of the instalments of principal
(other than the final instalment) attached on issue

Copies of the Deed of Covenant, the Agency Agreéntea Deed of Guarantee and the
Final Terms applicable to the Notes are availattarfspection during normal business hours at the
specified office of each of the Paying Agents, sinet any Final Terms relating to an unlisted Note
of a Series will only be available for inspectiond Noteholder holding one or more unlisted Notes
of that Series and such Noteholder must producdeage satisfactory to the relevant Paying Agent
as to its identity. If the Notes are to be admittedtrading on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the applicable FinahiBewill be published on the website of the
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Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.bourse.lu. Alspes from time to time entitled to the benefit
of obligations under any Notes are deemed to hatieenof, and are entitled to the benefit of, h#é t
provisions of the Deed of Covenant, the Agency Agrent, the Deed of Guarantee and the
applicable Final Terms, which are binding on them.

Words and expressions defined in the Deed of Cavetize Agency Agreement, the Deed
of Guarantee or used in the applicable Final Testral have the same meanings where used in
these Conditions unless the context otherwise regjur unless otherwise stated and provided that,
in the event of inconsistency, the applicable Firexims will prevail.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case fofitiee Notes, serially numbered in the
Specified Currency and the Specified Denominatipni®vided that in the case of any Notes which
are to be admitted to trading on a regulated mawiéin the European Economic Area or offered to
the public in a Member State of the European Ecandkrea in circumstances which require the
publication of a prospectus under the Prospectuscbie, the minimum Specified Denomination
shall be euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in anyeptturrency as at the date of issue of those Notes)
Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be argkd for Notes of another Denomination.

So long as the Notes are represented by a Temp@knlyal Note or Permanent Global
Note and the relevant clearing system(s) so periné, Notes will be tradeable onfg) if the
Specified Denomination stated in the relevant Fifaims is “euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in
another currency)”, in the authorised denominatioheuro 100,000 (or its equivalent in another
currency) and integral multiples of euro 100,000 ifs equivalent in another currency) thereafter,
or (b) if the Specified Denomination stated in the retévi@inal Terms is “euro 100,000 (or its
equivalent in another currency) and integral muégp of euro 1,000 (or its equivalent in another
currency) in excess thereof”, in the minimum autbed denomination of euro 100,000 (or its
equivalent in another currency) and higher integraliltiples of euro 1,000 (or its equivalent in
another currency), notwithstanding that no defirgtiNotes will be issued with a denomination
above euro 199,000 (or its equivalent in anotharency).

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attachedess they are Zero Coupon Notes in
which case references to Coupons and Couponhadidérese Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes, Re#seand Coupons will pass by delivery.
Subject as set out below, the Issuer, the Guaraamal any Paying Agent may deem and treat (and
no such person will be liable for so deeming ardting) the bearer of any Note, Receipt or Coupon
as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not aseesthd notwithstanding any notice of ownership
or writing thereon or notice of any previous losgheft thereof) for all purposes but, in the cate
any global Note, without prejudice to the provisi@et out in the next succeeding paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented digteml Note, each person who is for the
time being shown in the records of Euroclear BaAKNY (Euroclear) or of Clearstream Banking,
S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourgas the holder of a particular nominal amount ofdd (in which
regard any certificate or other document issueétmpoclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the
nominal amount of Notes standing to the accouragtnyf person shall be conclusive and binding for
all purposes save in the case of manifest erra@l) ble deemed to be the holder of such nominal
amount of Notes for all purposes other than widpeet to the payment of principal or interest on
the Notes, for which purpose the bearer of thevegleglobal Note shall be deemed to be the holder
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of such nominal amount of Notes in accordance waitt subject to the terms of the relevant global
Note (and the expressiorisoteholder and holder of Notesand related expressions shall be
construed accordingly). Notes which are represehted global Note will be transferable only in

accordance with the rules and procedures for thee tbeing of Euroclear or of Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as the case may be.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstrelauxembourg shall, whenever the
context so permits, except in relation to Noteaasisin NGN form, be deemed to include a reference
to any additional or alternative clearance syst@mpra@aved by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Agent.

2. Status of the Notes

The Notes and the relative Receipts and Couponsar(if) are direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 4) unsztobligations of the Issuer rankipgri passu
without any preference among themselves and (duljeany applicable statutory exceptions) at
leastpari passuwith all other present and future unsecured arglilbordinated obligations of the
Issuer.

3. Status of the Deed of Guarantee

The payment of principal and interest together \aittother sums payable by the Issuer in
respect of the Notes has been unconditionally am¥dcably guaranteed by the Guarantor. The
obligations of the Guarantor under the Deed of @wi@e constitute direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 4) unsztabligations of the Guarantor and (subject to
any applicable statutory exceptions) radci passuwith all other present and future outstanding,
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of theahter.

In the event of insolvency (concurso) of the Gumarunder the Insolvency Law, claims
under the Guarantee relating to Notes (unless tpeglify by law as subordinated credits under
Article 92 of the Insolvency Law) will be ordinacyedits (créditos ordinarios) as defined in the
Insolvency Law. Ordinary credits rank below creditginst the insolvency estate (créditos contra
la masa) and credits with a priviege (créditos vilggiados). Ordinary credits rank above
subordinated credits and the rights of shareholders

4, Negative Pledge
So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defindte Agency Agreement):

(&) neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor shallterea permit to subsist any Security
Interest (other than a Permitted Security Interepfn the whole or any part of its
present or future undertaking, assets or reverineliding uncalled capital) to secure
any Relevant Indebtedness or any Guarantee of algvént Indebtedness; and

(b) the Issuer and the Guarantor shall procure nbae of their respective Subsidiaries
will create or permit to subsist any Security lastr(other than a Permitted Security
Interest) upon the whole or any part of its presmnfuture undertaking, assets or
revenues (including uncalled capital) to secure Reyevant Indebtedness or any
Guarantee of any Relevant Indebtedness,
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without at the same time or prior thereto (i) sewuthe Notes and/or, as the case may be,
the Guarantor’s obligations under the Deed of Guem equally and rateably therewith or
(ii) providing such other security for the Notesdéor, as the case may be, the Guarantor’s
obligations under the Deed of Guarantee, as mayafg@oved by an Extraordinary
Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreemeni)latieholders.

In these Conditions:

Guaranteemeans, in relation to any Indebtedness of anyoReemny obligation of another
Person to pay such Indebtedness including (withmitiation):

() any obligation to purchase such Indebtedness;
(i) any obligation to lend money, to purchasesalscribe shares or other securities or to
purchase assets or services in order to providisftor the payment of such

Indebtedness;

(iif) any indemnity against the consequences @éfault in the payment of such
Indebtedness; and

(iv) any other agreement to be responsible foh dndebtedness;

Indebtednessmeans any indebtedness of any Person for monerovied or raised
including (without limitation) any indebtedness farin respect of:

() amounts raised by acceptance under any acuaptaedit facility;

(i) amounts raised under any note purchase fgcili

(i) the amount of any liability in respect ofdses or hire purchase contracts which would,
in accordance with applicable law and generallept®d accounting principles, be

treated as finance or capital leases;

(iv) the amount of any liability in respect of apyrchase price for assets or services the
payment of which is deferred for a period in exa#s80 days; and

(v) amounts raised under any other transactiay@ing, without limitation, any forward
sale or purchase agreement) having the commeftat ef a borrowing;

Permitted Security Interesieans:
() inrelation to the Issuer or any of its Subariks:
(A) any Security Interest arising by operation @ivland in the ordinary course of
business of the Issuer or any of its SubsidiarieiEkvdoes not (either alone or
together with any one or more other such Secuntgrésts) materially impair

the operation of such business and which has nen lemforced against the
assets to which it attaches; and
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(B) any Security Interest that does not fall witkb-paragraph (A) above and that
secures Relevant Indebtedness which, when aggregatith Relevant
Indebtedness secured by all other Security Internpstmitted under this sub-
paragraph, does not exceed euro 50,000,000 (oredtsvalent in other
currencies); and

(ii) inrelation to the Guarantor or any of itsbSidiaries:

(A) any Security Interest in existence on 29 Octob899 to the extent that it
secures Relevant Indebtedness outstanding on siieh d

(B) any Security Interest arising by operation aif/land in the ordinary course of
business of the Guarantor or any of its Subsidakibich does not (either alone
or together with any one or more other such Secliterests) materially impair
the operation of such business and which has nen lemforced against the
assets to which it attaches;

(C) any Security Interest to secure Project Finddelat;

(D) any Security Interest created in respect ofeRRamt Indebtedness of an entity
that has merged with, or has been acquired (wh@theghole or in part) by, the
Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries, provided theth Security Interest:

() was in existence at the time of such mergexaguisition;

(i) was not created for the purpose of providsegurity in respect of the
financing of such merger or acquisition; and

(i) is not increased in amount or otherwiseeexted following such merger or
acquisition other than pursuant to a legal or @mtral obligation
(x) which was assumed (by operation of law, agredroeotherwise) prior
to such merger or acquisition by an entity whidhsach time, was not a
Subsidiary of the Guarantor, and (y) which remdegally binding on
such entity at the time of such merger or acquisjtand

(E) any Security Interest that does not fall witkub-paragraphs (A), (B), (C) or
(D) above and that secures Relevant Indebtednesh,whhen aggregated with
Relevant Indebtedness secured by all other Sechntigyests permitted under
this sub-paragraph, does not exceed euro 50,00Q¢d06 equivalent in other
currencies);

Person means any individual, company, corporation, firpgrtnership, joint venture,
association, organisation, state or agency of te staother entity, whether or not having separate

legal personality;

Project Finance Assetsneans the assets (including, for the avoidanagoabt, shares (or
other interests)) of a Project Finance Entity;

Project Finance Entitymeans any entity in which the Guarantor or anitsoSubsidiaries
holds an interest whose only assets and businessaamstituted by: (i) the ownership, creation,
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development, construction, improvement, exploitatbo operation of one or more of such entity’s
assets, or (ii) shares (or other interests) inctngital of other entities that satisfy limb (i) tfis
definition;

Project Finance Debitneans any Relevant Indebtedness:

0] incurred by a Project Finance Entity in respafcthe activities of such entity or another
Project Finance Entity in which it holds sharesdirer interests); or

(i) any Subsidiary formed exclusively for the pasg of financing a Project Finance
Entity,

where, in each case, the holders of such Relevagigbtedness have no recourse against the
Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (or its oirthespective assets), except for recourse tohg) t
Project Finance Assets of such Project Financdi&sitiand (z) in the case of (ii) above only, the
Subsidiary incurring such Relevant Indebtedness.

Relevant Indebtednessieans any Indebtedness which is in the form okpresented by
any bond, note, debenture, debenture stock, laamk,stertificate or other instrument which is, &r i
capable of being, listed, quoted or traded on awgksexchange or in any securities market
(including, without limitation, any over-the-countmarket);

Security Interestmeans any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or dakeurity interest
including, without limitation, anything analogous any of the foregoing under the laws of any
jurisdiction; and

Subsidiary means, in relation to any Person (fiist Persor) at any particular time, any
other Person (theecond Person

()  whose affairs and policies the first Persontoaa or has the power to control, whether
by ownership of share capital, contract, the pawexppoint or remove members of the
governing body of the second Person or otherwise; o

(i)  whose financial statements are, in accordandd applicable law and generally
accepted accounting principles, fully consolidatétth those of the first Person.

5. Interest
(@) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

0] Each Fixed Rate Note shall bear interest omdsinal amount from, and including,
the Interest Commencement Date (which shall belalbe of issue thereof or such other
date as may be specified in the relevant Final $eimrespect thereof at the rater
annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate(s)ecest specified in the
relevant Final Terms and on the Maturity Date djetiin the relevant Final Terms if
that date does not fall on an Interest Payment.Date

(i)  The first payment of interest will be made the Interest Payment Date next following

the Interest Commencement Date and, if the peri@wden the Interest
Commencement Date and the first Interest Paymetd Balifferent from the periods
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(b)

(iii)

between Interest Payment Dates, will amount tartiti@l Broken Amount specified in
the relevant Final Terms. If the Maturity Date @ an Interest Payment Date, interest
from, and including, the preceding Interest PaymBatte (or from the Interest
Commencement Date, as the case may be) to, buidixg] the Maturity Date will
amount to the final Broken Amount specified in tekevant Final Terms.

If interest is required to be calculated for aigerending other than on an Interest
Payment Date, such interest shall be calculateablplying the Rate of Interest to each
Calculation Amount, multiplying such sum by the lgable Day Count Fraction, and

rounding the resultant figure to the nearest subafrihe relevant Specified Currency,

half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwardotberwise in accordance with

applicable market convention.

If a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is @gfied in the applicable Final
Terms, the amount of interest payable on eachdstdPayment Date will amount to
the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the BrolAmount so specified.

If interest is required to be calculated foperiod of other than a full year, such interest
shall be calculated using the applicable Day Céuattion pursuant to Condition 5(e).

Interest on Floating Rate Notes

(i)

Specified Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on itstauting nominal amount from
(and including) the Interest Commencement Dateifspeédn the applicable Final
Terms and such interest will be payable in arreaeach interest payment date
(each aSpecifiedinterest Payment Dadewhich (save as otherwise mentioned in
these Conditions or the applicable Final Termds fille number of months or other
period specified as the Interest Period in the iegiple Final Terms after the
preceding Specified Interest Payment Date or, & ¢hse of the First Interest
Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

If a business day convention is specified in thpliaable Final Terms and if any
Specified Interest Payment Date would otherwisé dal a day which is not a
Business Day (as defined below), then, if the lrssrday convention specified is:

D in any case where Interest Periods are s$pdcih accordance with
Condition 5(b)(i) above, the Floating Rate Conwemtisuch Specified
Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to thé deyx which is a
Business Day unless it would thereby fall into tlext calendar month, in
which event (A) such Specified Interest PaymenteDattall be brought
forward to the immediately preceding Business Dayd dB) each
subsequent Specified Interest Payment Date shalieokast Business Day
in the month which falls the number of months dreotperiod specified as
the Interest Period in the applicable Final Ternfterathe preceding
applicable Specified Interest Payment Date occumed

(2) the Following Business Day Convention, suplectfied Interest Payment
Date shall be postponed to the next day whichBasiness Day; or
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3) the Modified Following Business Day Conventisuch Specified Interest
Payment Date shall be postponed to the next daghaibia Business Day
unless it would thereby fall into the next calendaonth, in which event
such Specified Interest Payment Date shall be Wofmyward to the
immediately preceding Business Day; or

4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, symtiied Interest Payment
Date shall be brought forward to the immediatebcpding Business Day.

Business Daymeans:

(A) in the case of a currency other than euro, ya (déher than a Saturday or Sunday) on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange madetie payments in the principal
financial centre for such currency; and/or

(B) in the case of euro, a day on which the TARGH/stem (as defined in Condition
5(b)(iv)) is operating (TARGET Business Day and/or

(C) in the case of a currency and/or one or morsiri&ss Centres a day (other than a
Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banksfamign exchange markets settle
payments in such currency in the Business Centi@(s)f no currency is indicated,
generally in each of the Business Centres.

(i) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes

The Rate of Interest payable from time to timeadaapect of Floating Rate Notes
will be determined in the manner specified in thpl@able Final Terms.

(i)  ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the apghlle Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be defteed, the Rate of Interest for
each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rates or minus (as indicated in
the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any).r Rhe purposes of this sub-
paragraph (iii) JISDA Ratefor an Interest Period means a rate equal to libegiRg
Rate that would be determined by the Calculatioergr other person specified
in the applicable Final Terms under an interese ravap transaction if the
Calculation Agent or that other person were actisgCalculation Agent for that
swap transaction under the terms of an agreementgarating the 2006 ISDA
Definitions, as published by the International Ssvamd Derivatives Association,
Inc. (thelSDA Definitions), and under which:

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified ia &pplicable Final Terms;
(B) the Designated Maturity is a period equalat interest Period; and
© the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if tipplecable Floating Rate Option

is based on the London inter-bank offered ratBQR) (or, in the case of
Notes denominated or payable in euro, the Eurozotebank market

46



(iv)

(EURIBOR)) for a currency, the first day of that InterestiBd or (ii) in
any other case, as specified in the applicablel Fiexans.

For purposes of this sub-paragraph (iiBloating Rate Calculation Agent
Floating Rate Option Designated Maturityand Reset Datehave the meanings
given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

Where this sub-paragraph (iii) applies, in resggatach relevant Interest Period,
the Calculation Agent will be deemed to have disgbd its obligations under
paragraph (g) below in respect of the determinatiothe Rate of Interest if it has
determined the Rate of Interest in respect of datérest Period in the manner
provided in this sub-paragraph (iii).

Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where so specified in the applicable Final Terths, Rate of Interest for each
Interest Period will, subject as provided belowgliber:

(A) the offered quotation (if there is only oneotption on the Relevant Screen
Page (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms)Rpressed as a
percentage ratger annumor

(B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessarhéofburth decimal place, with
0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the offered dioots (expressed as a
percentage rafger annun),

for deposits in the Specified Currency for thatetast Period which appears or
appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Seeggnas at 11.00a.m. (London
time or, where the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, Bilgsime) on the Interest
Determination Date in question plus or minus (acated in the applicable Final
Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined bg alculation Agent. If five or
more such offered quotations are available on #le\Rnt Screen Page, the highest
(or, if there is more than one such highest quatatbne only of such quotations)
shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent far purpose of determining the
arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of sifelned quotations.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available,onithe case of (A) above, no such
guotation appears or, in the case of (B) abovegffevan three of such offered
guotations appear, in each case as at such tim&dlrulation Agent shall request
the principal London office of each of the RefereBanks (as defined below) or,
in the case of the determination of EURIBOR, thiagipal office of each of four
EURIBOR Reference Banks (as defined below) to pl@the Calculation Agent
with its offered quotation (expressed as a pergentateper annun for deposits in
the Specified Currency for the relevant Interestidéleto leading banks in the
London inter-bank market (or, in the case of théedeination of EURIBOR,
where the Reference Rate of EURIBOR is used foedldenominated or payable
in euro, the Eurozone interbank market) as at HLrOO(London time or, where the
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, Brussels time) on therdst Determination Date in
guestion. If two or more of the Reference Banksaerthe case may be, EURIBOR
Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent sitlch offered quotations, the
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Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shaltHgearithmetic mean (rounded as
provided above) of such offered quotations plusninus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all dstermined by the Calculation
Agent.

If on any Interest Determination Date one onlyone of the Reference Banks or,
as the case may be, EURIBOR Reference Banks, m®\hte Calculation Agent
with such an offered quotation as provided abotie, Rate of Interest for the
relevant Interest Period shall be the nagg annumwhich the Calculation Agent
determines as being the arithmetic mean (roundgut@éded above) of the rates,
as communicated to (and at the request of) theu@aion Agent by the Reference
Banks or, as the case may be, EURIBOR ReferencksBan any two or more of
them, at which such banks were offered, as at &1n@0(London time or, where
the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, Brussels time) oe thlevant Interest
Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Gwyefor the relevant Interest
Period by leading banks in the London inter-bankkeia(or, in the case of the
determination of EURIBOR, where the Reference RAIEURIBOR is used for
Notes denominated or payable in euro, the Eurozotbank market) plus or
minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terthg)Margin (if any) or, if fewer
than two of the Reference Banks or, as the case bea)eURIBOR Reference
Banks, provide the Calculation Agent with such dterates, the offered rate for
deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevatdrest Period, or the arithmetic
mean (rounded as provided above) of the offerezsrimr deposits in the Specified
Currency for the relevant Interest Period, at whiom the relevant Interest
Determination Date, any one or more banks (whictklm banks is or are suitable
for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agensituoting to leading banks in
the London inter-bank market (or, in the case ef dietermination of EURIBOR,
the Eurozone interbank market) (or, as the casebmathe quotations of such bank
or banks to the Calculation Agent) plus or minus ifadicated in the applicable
Final Terms) the Margin (if any), provided thattlie Rate of Interest cannot be
determined in accordance with the foregoing prowisiof this sub-paragraph (iv),
the Rate of Interest shall be the sum of the Maagid the offered rate or (as the
case may be) the arithmetic mean of the offeregbsriaist determined in relation to
the Notes in respect of the preceding InteresiBeri

In this Condition, the following expressions shallve the following meanings:

Reference Banksneans, in the case of (A) above, those banks whibseed rate
was used to determine such quotation when suclatjioiotlast appeared on the
Relevant Screen Page and, in the case of (B) altbwse banks whose offered
guotations last appeared on the Relevant Screea Whgn no fewer than three
such offered quotations appeared;

EURIBOR Reference Bankmeans a major bank operating in the Eurozone
interbank market anBURIBOR Reference Bankshall be construed accordingly;

Interest Determination Dateneans, with respect to a Rate of Interest anddster
Period, the date specified as such in the relefamdl Terms or, if none is so
specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Pdrib the Specified Currency is
Sterling or (ii) the second Business Day in Longwoior to the commencement of
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(€)

(d)

(e)

such Interest Period if the Specified Currencyaiher Sterling nor euro or (iii) the
second TARGET Business Day prior to the commencewfesuch Interest Period
if the Specified Currency is euro; and

TARGET system means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross
Settlement Express Transfer (known as TARGET 2)é®ysvhich was launched
on 19 November 2007, or any successor thereto.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respettFloating Rate Notes is

specified as being other than the London inter-bafféred rate (or, in the case of
Notes denominated or payable in euro, the Euroruaebank market offered rate),

the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes lvélldetermined as provided in the
applicable Final Terms.

Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of paly of a Note, that part only of
such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any)rfrthe due date for its redemption unless,
upon due presentation thereof, payment of principamproperly withheld or refused. In
such event, interest will continue to accrue theréas well after as before any demand or
judgement) at the rate then applicable to the pa@mount of the Notes or such other rate
as may be specified in the relevant Final Termd the date on which, upon (except in the
case of any payment where presentation and/orreleref the relevant Note is not required
as a precondition of payment) due presentatiom®fr¢levant Note, the relevant payment is
made or, if earlier (except in the case of any paymvhere presentation and/or surrender of
the relevant Note is not required as a preconditfopayment), the seventh day after the date
on which the Agent having received the funds rexflto make such payment, notice is given
to the Noteholders in accordance with ConditiorofLlEhat circumstance (except to the extent
that there is failure in the subsequent paymemetido the relevant Noteholder).

Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specify a Minimumt&af Interest for any Interest
Period then, in the event that the Rate of Intemestespect of any such Interest Period
determined in accordance with the above provisisnkess than such Minimum Rate of
Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interesioldeshall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.
If the applicable Final Terms specify a Maximum &af Interest for any Interest Period
then, in the event that the Rate of Interest ipe@esof any such Interest Period determined in
accordance with the above provisions is greatem thach Maximum Rate of Interest, the
Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shaliumh Maximum Rate of Interest.

Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculatadriinterest Amount

With respect to Floating Rate Notes, the CalcotathAgent will, at or as soon as
practicable after each time at which the Rate tdrbst is to be determined, determine the
Rate of Interest and calculate the amount of istdteelnterest Amounj payable in respect
of any Notes in respect of each Calculation Amdastspecified in the relevant Final Terms)
for the relevant Interest Period.
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Each Interest Amount for Fixed Rate Notes and tiFigaRate Notes shall be

calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to gaaltulation Amount multiplying such sum
by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and roundhrmg resultant figure to the nearest sub-
unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of/auch sub-unit being rounded upwards or
otherwise in accordance with applicable market eation.

Day Count Fractionmeans, in respect of the calculation of an amofimhterest on any
Note for any period of time (whether or not constitg an Interest Period, th@alculation
Period):

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

if Actual/Actual or Actual/Actual (ISDA) is specified in the relevant Final Terms as
being applicable, the actual number of days inGha&ulation Period divided by 365
(or, if any portion of that Calculation Period faln a leap year, the sum of (A) the
actual number of days in that portion of the Caltioh Period falling in a leap year
divided by 366; and (B) the actual number of dayshiat portion of the Calculation
Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if Actual/365 (Fixed)is specified in the relevant Final Terms as beipglicable, the
actual number of days in the Calculation Periodddiet by 365;

if Actual/360is specified in the relevant Final Terms as beipglicable, the actual
number of days in the Calculation Period dividedB69;

if 30/36Q 360/3600r Bond Basisis specified in the relevant Final Terms as being
applicable, the number of days in the Calculatierid®l divided by 360, calculated on

a formula basis as follows:

[360 x (Y2— Y1)] + [30 X (Mz — My)] + (D2—D)

Day Count _
Fraction

360
where:
Y. is the year, expressed as a number, in which tsted@ay of the Interest Period falls;

Y- is the year, expressed as a number, in which théndaediately following the last
day of the Interest Period falls;

M, is the calendar month, expressed as a numberiochwhe first day of the Interest
Period falls;

M, is the calendar month, expressed as a number,hiohwthe day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls

D, is the first calendar day, expressed as a nurabéine Interest Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case Will be 30; and
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D, is the calendar day, expressed as a number, imategdifollowing the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless such numloedd be 31 and Pis greater than
29, in which case pwill be 30;

In these Conditionsub-unit means, with respect to any currency other thao, ébhe lowest
amount of such currency that is available as leggader in the country of such currency and,
with respect to euro, means one cent.

v)

if 30E/360 or Eurobond Basisis specified in the relevant Final Terms as being
applicable, the number of days in the Calculatierid®l divided by 360, calculated on
a formula basis as follows:

[360 x (Y2— Y1)] + [30 X (Mz — My)] + (D2—D»)

Day Count _
Fraction

360
where:
Y. is the year, expressed as a number, in which tsted@ay of the Interest Period falls;

Y- is the year, expressed as a number, in which théndaediately following the last
day of the Interest Period falls;

M, is the calendar month, expressed as a numberichwhe first day of the Interest
Period falls;

M, is the calendar month, expressed as a number,hiohwthe day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls

D, is the first calendar day, expressed as a nuralbéine Interest Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case Will be 30; and

D, is the calendar day, expressed as a number, irategdifollowing the last day

included in the Interest Period, unless such nummeld be 31, in which case,ill
be 30;
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(vi)

(Vi)

if 30E/360 (ISDA)is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the nemii days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated doranula basis as follows:

[360 x (Y2— Y1)] + [30 X (Mz — My)] + (D2—D)

Day Count _
Fraction

360

where:
Y. is the year, expressed as a number, in which tsted@ay of the Interest Period falls;

Y- is the year, expressed as a number, in which théndaediately following the last
day of the Interest Period falls;

M. is the calendar month, expressed as a numberiochwhe first day of the Interest
Period falls;

M, is the calendar month, expressed as a number,hiohwthe day immediately
following the last day of the Interest Period falls

D, is the first calendar day, expressed as a nurobéng Interest Period, unless (i) that
day is the last day of February; or (ii) such numieuld be 31, in which case; il
be 30; and

D, is the calendar day, expressed as a number, irategdifollowing the last day
included in the Interest Period, unless (i) such idathe last day of February but not
the Maturity Date; or (ii) such number would be Bilwhich case Bwill be 30; and

if Actual/Actual (ICMA) is specified in the relevant Final Terms as beipglicable:

(@) where the Calculation Period is equal to artghn than the Determination
Period during which it falls, the actual numberdaiys in the Calculation
Period divided by the product of (1) the actual bemof days in such
Calculation Period; and (2) the number of DetertmmaPeriods in any
period of one year; and

(b)  where the Calculation Period is longer thae Determination Period, the
sum of:

(A) the actual number of days in such Calculafaniod falling in the
Determination Period in which it begins divided thy product of
(1) the actual number of days in such Determinakeniod; and
(2) the number of Determination Periods in anyquenf one year;
and
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(f)

(9)

(h)

(B) the actual number of days in such CalculaReniod falling in the
next Determination Period divided by the produc{Xfthe actual
number of days in such Determination Period; andh@ number
of Determination Periods in any period of one year.

Determination Periodmeans the period from and including a Determinabate in
any year to but excluding the next DeterminationeDa

Determination Datemeans the date specified as such in the relevaat Ferms or, if
none is so specified, the Interest Payment Data(d¢he Specified Interest Payment
Dates, as the case may be; and

Rate of Interestmeans the rate of interest payable from timerte tin respect of the
Notes and that is either specified or calculateddeordance with the provisions in the
relevant Final Terms.

Change of Interest Basis

If Change of Interest Basis is specified in thevaht Final Terms as being applicable,
the Final Terms will indicate the relevant Inter@sriods to whictthe Fixed Rate Note
Provisions, Floating Rate Note Provisions and/anZ&oupon Note Provisions shall apply.

Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amiou

The Calculation Agent will cause the Rate of Iréérend each Interest Amount for
each Interest Period and the relevant Interest BalyiDate or Specified Interest Payment
Date, as the case may be, to be notified to theetsthe Guarantor and, if the Notes are listed
on a stock exchange, quotation system or othewapteauthority and the rules of such
exchange, quotation system or other relevant aityheo require, to any such relevant
exchange, quotation system and/or other relevahbsty, and to be published in accordance
with Condition 15 as soon as possible after thetexnination but (i) in no event later than
the first day of the relevant Interest Period thées, if determined prior to such time or
(i) in all other cases, as soon as practicabldrbob event later than the fourth Business Day
after such determination. Each Interest Amount amdrest Payment Date or Specified
Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, sdedotifay subsequently be amended (or
appropriate alternative arrangements made by waygjostment) without notice in the event
of an extension or shortening of the Interest Rerib the Notes are listed on a stock
exchange, quotation system or other relevant aityhand the rules of such exchange,
guotation system or other relevant authority saiireg any such amendment will be promptly
notified to any such relevant exchange, quotatj@tesn and/or other relevant authority.

Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, detemations, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained frpilrposes of the provisions of this
paragraph (b) shall (in the absence of wilful difdaad faith or manifest error) be binding on
the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent, the Payingnfggand all Noteholders and (in the
absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer,Guarantor or the Noteholders shall attach
to the Agent in connection with the exercise or-egarcise by them of their powers, duties
and discretions pursuant to such provisions.
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6. Redemption and Purchase
(@) Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and dadas specified below, each Note will
be redeemed by the Issuer, failing which the Guaraat its Final Redemption Amount specified in,
or determined in the manner specified in, the apple Final Terms in the relevant Specified
Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the &atlle Final Terms (in the case of a Note other
than a Floating Rate Note) or on the Specifiedrésie Payment Date falling in the Redemption
Month specified in the applicable Final Terms (e tcase of a Floating Rate Note). Such Final
Redemption Amount in respect of any Note shalltbgiincipal amount or such higher amount as
may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(b) Redemption for Tax Reasons

If, in relation to any Series of Notes (i) as autesf any change in the laws or regulations
of The Netherlands or the Kingdom of Spain, asieable, or of any political subdivision thereof or
any authority or agency therein or thereof havirmvgr to tax or in the interpretation or
administration of any such laws or regulations WHiecomes effective on or after the date of issue
of such Notes or any earlier date specified in Emeal Terms the Issuer or the Guarantor, as
applicable, would be required to pay additional ante as provided in Condition 10 and (ii) such
circumstances are evidenced by the delivery byldheer or the Guarantor, as applicable, to the
Agent of a certificate signed by four managing clioes of the Issuer or two directors of the
Guarantor, as applicable, stating that the samunistances prevail and describing the facts leading
thereto and an opinion of independent legal advisérecognised standing to the effect that such
circumstances prevail, the Issuer may, at its aptiod having given no less than 30 nor more than
60 days’ notice (ending, in the case of Notes whiehr interest at a floating rate, on a day upon
which interest is payable) to the Noteholders icoadance with Condition 15 (which notice shall be
irrevocable), redeem all (but not some only) of dlistanding Notes comprising the relevant Series
at their early tax redemption amount (tBarly Redemption Amount Tax(which shall be their
principal amount (or at such other Early Redemptfonount Tax) as may be specified in or
determined in accordance with the relevant FinaiiBg less, in the case of any Instalment Note, the
aggregate amount of all instalments that shall eaemme due and payable in respect of such Note
prior to the date fixed for redemption under anyeotCondition (which amount, if and to the extent
not then paid, remains due and payable), togetiteragcrued interest (if any) thereon, provided,
however, that no such notice of redemption may ilkengearlier than 90 days (or, in the case of
Notes which bear interest at a floating rate a remab days which is equal to the aggregate of the
number of days falling within the then current et period applicable to the Notes plus 60 days)
prior to the earliest date on which the IssuetherGuarantor, as applicable, would be obliged to pa
such additional amounts were a payment in resgebhedNotes then due.

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

If a Call Option is specified in the relevant Fiffarms as being applicable, the Issuer may,
having (unless otherwise specified in the appliedfihal Terms) given not more than 60 nor less
than 30 days’ notice to the Agent and, in accordanith Condition 15, the Noteholders (which
notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all or somg ohthe Notes then outstanding on the Optional
Redemption Date(s) and at the Optional Redemptiomount(s) specified in, or determined in the
manner specified in, the applicable Final Termstoer, if applicable, with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Datd(s}he event of a redemption of some only of
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the Notes, such redemption must be of a nominalatreeing the Minimum Redemption Amount
or a Maximum Redemption Amount, both as indicatethe applicable Final Terms. In the case of a
partial redemption of definitive Notes, the Notedbe redeemed will be selected individually by lot,
subject to compliance with applicable law and thkes of each listing authority, stock exchange
and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Nobese then been admitted to listing, trading
and/or quotation, not more than 60 days prior éodate fixed for redemption and a list of the Notes
called for redemption will be published in accorcanvith Condition 15 not less than 30 days prior
to such date. In the case of a partial redemptidviotes which are represented by a global Note, the
relevant Notes will be selected in accordance witd rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Elgmcand Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a
pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, &irtlliscretion).

(d) Residual Maturity Call Option

If a Residual Maturity Call Option is specified e relevant Final Terms as being
applicable, the Issuer may, on giving not less thamor more than 30 days’ irrevocable notice to
the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15i¢Wwotice shall specify the date fixed for
redemption (thékesidual Maturity Call Option Redemption Dade redeem all (but not only some)
of the outstanding Notes comprising the relevanieSeat their principal amount together with
interest accrued to, but excluding, the Residualiukity Call Option Redemption Date, which shall
be no earlier than (i) three months before the kitgtDate in respect of Notes having a maturity of
not more than ten years or (ii) six months befdmwe Maturity Date in respect of Notes having a
maturity of more than ten years, unless otherwigeified in the relevant Final Terms.

For the purpose of the preceding paragraph, theriabf not more than ten years or the
maturity of more than ten years shall be determaseffom the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the
relevant Series of Notes.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice igegi shall be redeemed on the date specified
in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

(e) Redemption following a Substantial Purchase Event

If a SubstantialPurchase Event is specified in the Final Terms eisgbapplicable and a
Substantial Purchase Event has occurred and isnaorg, then the Issuer may, subject to having
given not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ adtiche Agent, and, in accordance with Condition
15, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irre\aden redeem the Notes comprising the relevant
Series in whole, but not in part, in accordancéwitese Conditions at any time, in each case at the
principal amount, together with any accrued andaithinterest up to (but excluding) the date of
redemption.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice igegi shall be redeemed on the date specified
in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

a Substantial Purchase Evenshall be deemed to have occurred if at least 80cest. of the
aggregate principal amount of the Notes of theveaie Series originally issued (which for these
purposes shall include any further Notes of thees&eries issued subsequently) is purchased by the
Issuer, the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the &utar (and in each case is cancelled in accordance
with Condition 6(e));
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()] Make-Whole Redemption

If a Make-Whole Redemption is specified in the valg Final Terms as being applicable,
then the Issuer may, subject to compliance withreddvant laws, regulations and directives and on
giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ceotio the Agent, and, in accordance with
Condition 15, the Noteholders redeem the Notes dsing the relevant Series, in whole or in part,
at any time or from time to time (but no later ththe Residual Maturity Call Option Redemption
Date (as defined in Condition 6(d) above) if apgtie), prior to their Maturity Date (théake-
Whole Redemption Dajeat their Make-Whole Redemption Amount (as defibebbw).

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, théehlto be redeemeBédeemed Notgsvill

() in the case of Redeemed Notes represented fyitde Notes, be selected individually by lot,
not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed &mfemption and (ii) in the case of Redeemed Notes
represented by a global Note, be selected in aaooed with the rules of Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in thends of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
as either a pool factor or a reduction in nomimabant), in each case of (i) and (ii) above, always
subject to compliance with any applicable laws atmtk exchange requirements. In the case of
Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notesst afl the serial numbers of such Redeemed
Notes will be published in accordance with Conditid not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed
for redemption.

Make-Whole Redemption Amounineans in respect of any Notes to be redeemed aurdm
calculated by, at the election of the Issuer, thgerk or a leading investment, merchant or
commercial bank appointed by the Issuer for thepses of calculating the relevant Make-Whole
redemption amount, and notified to the Noteholderaccordance with Condition 15, equal to the
greater of (x) 100 per cent. of the nominal amaifrthe Notes so redeemed and, (y) the sum of the
then present values of the remaining scheduled atgmof principal and interest on such Notes (not
including any interest accrued on the Notes to,exatuding, the relevant Make-Whole Redemption
Date) discounted to the relevant Make-Whole RedmmdDate on an annual basis at the Make-
Whole Redemption Rate (specified in the relevangFiTerms) plus a Make-Whole Redemption
Margin (specified in the relevant Final Terms),9lo each case of (x) and (y) above, any interest
accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the MakesM/Redemption Date.

(9) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders

If a Put Option is specified in the relevant Fida@rms as being applicable, upon any
Noteholder giving to the Issuer and the Guaramt@cicordance with Condition 15 not more than 60
nor less than 30 days’ notice (which notice shalirbevocable), the Issuer will, upon the expiry of
such notice, redeem subject to, and in accordaiiite the terms specified in the applicable Final
Terms in whole (but not in part) such Note on thei@al Redemption Date and at the Optional
Redemption Amount specified in, or determined ia thanner specified in, the applicable Final
Terms together, if applicable, with interest acdrue (but excluding) the relevant Optional
Redemption Date.

(h) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders up@hange of Control
If a Change of Control Put Option is specifiedhe televant Final Terms as being applicable
and a Change of Control occurs and, during the @hani Control Period, a Rating Downgrade

occurs (together, &hange of Control Event each holder of Notes will have the option (the
Change of Control Put Optionto require the Issuer to redeem or, at the ISswgtion, to procure
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the purchase of such Notes on the Change of CoRedemption Date at the Change of Control
Redemption Amount.

A Change of Controlshall be deemed to have occurred at each timeathatperson or persons
acting in concertRelevant Personsor any person or persons acting on behalf of fRelevant
Persons, acquire(s) control, directly or indireadfythe Guarantor.

control means: (a) the acquisition or control of more tB@nper cent. of the voting rights of the
issued shareapital of the Guarantor; or (b) the right to appoint and/or remove all or the majority of

the members of the Guarantor’s Board of Directarsother governing body, whether obtained
directly or indirectly, whether obtained by ownepslof share capital, the possession of voting
rights, contract or otherwise.

Change of Control Periodneans the period commencing on the date on whiehelevant Change
of Control occurs or the date of the first relevé&dtential Change of Control Announcement,
whichever is the earlier, and ending on the datelwvis 90 days after the date of the occurrence of
the relevant Change of Control.

Potential Change of Control Announcememheans any public announcement or statement by the
Issuer or any actual twona fidepotential bidder relating to any potential Chan§€ontrol.

Rating Agencymeans any of the following: (a) Standard & Po&&ting Services, a division of The
McGraw Hill Companies, Inc.S&P); (b) Moody’s Investors Service Limited (Moody’9); (c) Fitch
Ratings Ltd Fitch Ratings); or (d) any other credit rating agency of equivalent international
standing specified from time to time by the Issaed, in each case, their respective successors or
affiliates.

A Rating Downgradeshall be deemed to have occurred in respect dfam@® of Control if, within
the Change of Control Period, the rating previoaslgigned to the Guarantor is lowered by at least
two full rating notches (by way of example, BB+ B®-, in the case of S&P) (downgradg or
withdrawn, in each case, by the requisite numbdRaifng Agencies (as defined below), and is not,
within the Change of Control Period, subsequentbgraded (in the case of a downgrade) or
reinstated (in the case of a withdrawal) to itslieacredit rating or better, such that there is no
longer a downgrade or withdrawal by the requisitenber of Rating Agencies. For these purposes,
therequisite number of Rating Agencieshall mean (i) at least two Rating Agencies, tithe time

of the rating downgrade or withdrawal, three or enBiating Agencies have assigned a credit rating
to the Guarantor, or (i) at least one Rating Ageif¢ at the time of the rating downgrade or
withdrawal, fewer than three Rating Agencies haggned a credit rating to the Guarantor.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Rating Downgratell be deemed to have occurred in respect of
a particular Change of Control if (a) following $ua downgrade, the Guarantor is still assigned an
Investment Grade Rating by one or more of the Raiigencies effecting the downgrade, or (b) the
Rating Agencies effecting the downgrade or withdnawtheir rating do not publicly announce or
otherwise confirm in writing to the Issuer that sueduction or withdrawal was the result, in whole
or part, of any event or circumstance compriseinarising as a result of, or in respect of, the
applicable Change of Control.

Investment Grade Ratingneans: (1) with respect to S&P, any of the caiegdrom and including

AAA to and including BBB+(or equivalent successor categories); (2) with respect to Moody’s, any
of the categories from and inding Aaa to and including Baa3 (or equivalent successor categories);
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(3) with respect to Fitch Ratings, any of the categs from and including AAA to and including
BBB- (or equivalent successor categories); and (4) with respect to any other credit rating agency of
equivalent international standing specified frometito time by the Issuer, a rating that is equiMale
to, or better than, the foregoing.

Change of Control Redemption Amoumheans an amount equal to par plus interest actouledt
excluding the Change of Control Redemption Date.

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a @hanh Control Event has occurred, the Issuer
shall give notice (a&Change of Control Event Notigeto the Agent, the Paying Agents and the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 spétifythe nature of the Change of Control Event
and the circumstances giving rise to it and thecgdare for exercising the Change of Control Put
Option, as well as the date upon which the Putoddas defined below) will end and the Change of
Control Redemption Date (as defined below).

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option taiiregredemption or, as the case may be, purchase
of a Note under this section, the holder of thateNuoust transfer or cause to be transferred itefNot
to be so redeemed or purchased to the accounteoPalying Agent specified in the Put Option
Notice for the account of the Issuer within theigei(thePut Period of 45 days after the Change of
Control Event Notice is given together with a dalgned and completed notice of exercise in the
form (for the time being current) obtainable frone tspecified office of any Paying Agent Pat
Option Noticg and in which the holder may specify a bank actéamvhich payment is to be made
under this section.

The Issuer shall redeem or, at the option of thads procure the purchase of the Notes in regfect
which the Change of Control Put Option has beerdlyaéxercised as provided above, and subject
to the transfer of such Notes to the account ofRhging Agent for the account of the Issuer as
described above on the date which is the fifth Bess Day following the end of the Put Period (the
Change of Control Redemption DgtePayment in respect of any Note so transferrdidbei made

in the relevant Specified Currency to the holdethe relevant Specified Currency denominated
bank account in the Put Option Notice on the Chasfgéontrol Redemption Date via the relevant
account holders.

If 80 per cent. or more in principal amount of thetes outstanding of a Series at the beginning of
the Change of Control Period have been redeempdrohased pursuant to the foregoing provisions
of this Condition 6(h), the Issuer may, at its option not less than five nor more than 10 Business
Days’ notice to the Noteholders given in accordawith Condition 15 within 60 days after the
Change of Control Redemption Date, redeem orsadgtion, purchase (or procure the purchase of)
all (but not some only) of the remaining Notes lwittSeries, each at par together with (or, where
purchased, together with an amount equal to) isteaecrued to (but excluding) the date of such
redemption or purchase.

0] Early Redemption Amounts

For the purposes of paragraph (b) above and GonditO, Zero Coupon Notes will be
redeemed at an amount equal to the sum of:

(A) the Reference Price specified in the applicabital Terms; and
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(B) the product of the Accrual Yield specified hetapplicable Final Terms (compounded
annually) being applied to the Reference Price fand including) the Issue Date to
(but excluding) the date fixed for redemption os (he case may be) the date upon
which such Note becomes due and repayable,

or such other amount as is provided in the applickmal Terms.

Where any calculation of an early redemption armhdéno be made for a period which is
not a whole number of years, the calculation ipees of the period of less than a full year shell b
made on the basis of a 360-day year consistin@ ahdnths of 30 days each and, in the case of an
incomplete month, the number of days elapsed.

()] Instalments

If the Notes are repayable in instalments, theYvélrepaid in the Instalment Amounts and
on the Instalment Date specified in the applic&ital Terms.

(K) Purchases

The Issuer, the Guarantor or any Subsidiary ofGlrantor may at any time purchase
Notes (together, in the case of definitive Notesthwall unmatured Receipts and Coupons
appertaining thereto) in any manner and at angpticthe case of a purchase by tender, such tender
must be made available to all Noteholders alikee T”suer, the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the
Guarantor will be entitled to hold and deal withtdsso purchased as the Issuer, the Guarantor or
the relevant Subsidiary of the Guarantor thinks fit

)] Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed in full will forthwithe cancelled and Notes which are
purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Gtiaran any Subsidiary of the Guarantor may, at the
election of the Issuer, be cancelled (togethemichecase with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons
attached thereto or delivered therewith). Noteslpased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor
or any Subsidiary of the Guarantor may not be veidsor resold other than to the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Guarantor.

(m) Late Payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coudote u